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Chairman'’s Statement
FEHE

To Our Shareholders

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Chi Kan Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the first annual report since the public listing of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2021 (the "FY 2021").

FY 2021 is strategically significant to the Group. On 14 August 2020
(the “Listing Date"), the shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were
successfully listed (the “Listing”) on the main board (the “Main
Board”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The Company issued 1,000 million Shares for the
purpose of listing, of which 250 million shares were issued under
the global offering which raised total net proceeds of approximately
HK$97.0 million, after the deduction of underwriting fees and other
related listing expenses. This was a significant milestone of the
Group. The Listing has enhanced our corporate brand and image
and marked a new era of our history. On behalf of the Group, | would
like to express our deepest gratitude towards all parties who have
assisted us in building our business over the years and bringing
the Company to the Main Board. The Listing has not only provided
additional capital funding to the Group to finance its projects, it also
enable us to explore and pursue suitable merger and acquisition
opportunities to enhance our capabilities to undertake more sizable
projects in the future.

We are a Hong Kong-based formwork contractor, mainly engaged in
the provision of formwork services, comprising of: (i) conventional
formwork which is built on-site by mainly using timber and
plywood; and (ii) prefabricated formwork which is built out of
prefabricated modules by mainly using aluminium and steel. During
the course of providing our formwork services, we may also be
requested by our customers, in the form of variation orders, to
provide other construction services, including plastering, installing
curtain wall and other miscellaneous works on an ancillary basis.
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Chairman'’s Statement
FEHE

Though we are faced with ever increasing competition among
contractors in tendering for new projects, we are mindful to
maintain our profit margin to safeguard our shareholders’ interests.
Nevertheless, we remain confident and are well-positioned in the
market as our operation model of subcontracting works allows
us flexibility to remain resilient to adverse impact. In FY 2021,
facing strong competitions, we are still able to be awarded 16
new contracts with an aggregate contract sum of approximately
HK$1,008.5 million. As at 31 March 2021, we had a total of 28
contracts (31 March 2020: 26 contracts) on hand and the amount of
contract sum yet to be recognised as at 31 March 2021 amounted
to approximately HK$1,381.6 million (31 March 2020: approximately
HKS$1,064.9 million).

FY 2021 was an unprecedentedly challenging year during which
the COVID-19 pandemic across the world has dampened the
economic situation. Although there are still many uncertainties on
the road to recovery, the Group is in the hope that the development
of COVID-19 vaccines and the recent launch of mass vaccination
around the world will begin to signal the end of this pandemic and
mark the beginning of economic recovery from which the Group
will benefit. Above all, with the leadership of our professional team
and the dedication of our united employees, we believe the Group
can overcome all difficulties and can thrive.

I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere
gratitude to our shareholders, customers, subcontractors, suppliers
and business partners for their continuous support, and to our
management and staff members for their diligence, dedication and
contribution to the growth of the Group.

LO Hon Kwong
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 25 June 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB am M AT

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a Hong Kong-based formwork contractor, mainly
engaged in the provision of formwork services, comprising of: (i)
conventional formwork which is built on-site by mainly using timber
and plywood; and (ii) prefabricated formwork which is built out of
prefabricated modules by mainly using aluminum and steel.

Formwork is the temporary supporting structures and moulds used
in construction where concrete is poured in and to be moulded
into the required structural shape and size. When we undertake a
formwork project, we are generally responsible for project planning
and implementation, procurement of materials, quality control
and overall management of our direct labour and workers of
our engaged subcontractors in carrying out the implementation
of formwork services in accordance with the main contractors’
requirements and specifications.

During the course of providing our formwork services, we may also
be requested by our customers, in the form of variation orders, to
provide other construction services, including plastering, installing
curtain wall and other miscellaneous works on an ancillary basis.

During the FY 2021, 16 new projects with an aggregate contract
value of approximately HK$1,008.5 million were awarded to the
Group. Two existing projects were completed during the year. As
at 31 March 2021, 28 projects with the outstanding contract sum of
approximately HK$1,381.6 million were all in progress.

The Group has engaged in E-Commerce business (“Other Business”)
since March 2021 via Baiyin Chi Kan Technology Development
Company Limited (“CK Baiyin"), which is incorporated in PRC on
24 February 2021. The Group hold 51% equity interest in CK Baiyin
whereas an independent third party holds 49% equity interest in
CK Baiyin. Up to 31 March 2021, the Group recorded other income
of approximately HK$0.5 million from Other Business. It is expected
that E-Commerce business would grow progressively in the coming
future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB am M oA

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the FY 2021, revenue of approximately HK$826.2 million
(FY 2020: approximately HK$685.9 million) were contributed by 28
projects (FY 2020: 26 projects). The turnover increased by 20.5%
mainly due to 16 projects were kick-off during FY 2021 which
contributed approximately HK$146.8 million.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the gross profit was
approximately HK$60.7 million (FY 2020: approximately HKS$73.1
million), while the gross profit margin was 7.3% (FY 2020: 10.7%). The
drop in our gross profit margin was mainly attributable to the result
of uneven gross profit margin in a project lifespan. As mentioned in
above, 16 projects were kick-off during FY 2021, the Group generally
have to incur substantial upfront costs in the early stage. The
Directors consider that the gross profit margin has been maintained
at a healthy position through the year.

Other incomes primarily comprise government grant and other
income. Other incomes for the year increased by HK$15.6 million
from approximately HKSO0.1 million for FY 2020 to approximately
HK$15.7 million for FY 2021, which mainly due to the government
grant and other income of approximately HK$15.2 million and
HK$0.5 million respectively. Other income was generated from
Other Business mentioned in the section headed “Business Review".

Selling and administrative expenses (the “S&A Expenses”) primarily
comprise staff costs, depreciation, consultancy fee and legal and
professional fee. The S&A Expenses for the year increased by
approximately HK$8.3 million to approximately HK$17.8 million for
FY 2021, compared with approximately HK$9.5 million of the last
year, which was mainly due to the professional fee and consultancy
fee of approximately HK$4.1 million and HK$3.0 million respectively
incurred in current period.

As a result, profit for the year increased to approximately HK$42.7
million, representing an increase of 7.8% over the corresponding
year of approximately HK$39.6 million in last year. Excluding the
non-recurring listing related expenses, the adjusted profit for
FY 2021 amounted to approximately HK$51.8 million (FY 2020:
approximately HK$52.9 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB am M AT

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Failure to diversify our customer base

We derive a significant portion of our revenue from our five largest
customers, in particular our largest customer, Hip Hing Group;
and any decrease or failure to maintain business relationship with
whom could materially adversely affect our business operations and
financial performance;

As our Group does not enter into any long-term written agreements
with our customers, and that our contracts are awarded by tender
on a project-by-project basis, there is no assurance that our Group
would be able to retain its major customers in the future. If we
are unable to secure new projects from our major customers or if
there is a significant decrease in the number of projects or size of
projects in terms of contract value awarded by our major customers
for whatever reasons, our business, results of operations and
financial performance would be materially and adversely affected
when we fail to secure suitable projects of comparable size and
quantity as replacement. Besides, if any of our major customers
encounter liquidity problems, it may result in delay or default in
settling progress payments with us, which in turn would have an
adverse impact on our cash flow and financial position. We cannot
guarantee that we will be able to diversify our customer base by
either securing new customers or securing significant number of
new projects from other customers on comparable terms in order to
partly or wholly offset the loss of revenue from our major customers,
in which case our business, results of operation, financial position
and future prospects may be materially and adversely affected. Even
if we manage to secure new customers, it would take time and
resources for us to develop the relationship with new customers
by adapting our systems and procedures to meet the project
requirements of new customers. If we are unable to secure new
customers, our business, results of operations, financial performance
and future prospects may be materially adversely affected.

Failure to obtain new projects

Our Group's revenue is non-recurring in nature and failure to
secure new projects would materially and adversely affect our
Group's business, results of operations, financial position and future
prospects;

8 Chi Kan Holdings Limited & ##2RAEMR AR Annual Report 2021 F3R

FERRRIBERER
REEEFHBES L

BN EZURHBRRAMEAER - UKKEF
HEEESE - RS IRERARERTEE
BE SHRMANEBEERVBEREATREKR
PHRIFE

MR ASEYEE G ERPREERNRBEE
&  ME S RERIEB ARE T &R - #1T
REAREHRENRBIREP © WMEFIREE
RXZEPEBFIER @ AMETREFPERFH
HEHBREANEBEHENRBE REREME
BAERD - BRFAREIISREREEHEED
BEEBFERNR > HANES REXRERYH
KRB EXBNEANTFEE  #I  HEFIEM
TBEFEBRPDESHRE AR SREMERY
R BEERESR  EMHRMANRESRE LY
BARSERR A FEE - BT BERBFRMIAGES
BRECSHEFPIERRBERIREMELR
BAEHEE  UETEARMNEP,E - 1t
MDA EHEKEETETPHRGERL - &
BEERT - SEERMANES - REXRE - FHR
MABRRKATRERERTHMEE - AERFIER
ESHEF NRAEEKEIEER  HEMANK
MRS ANEHEPWEBRE - 718k
HEFEFPEVBRE - WEMARERSHES » &
FINER  KEXE  MBRARKKIHE
REEATHEE -

REEMSHEE

AEBEH NS BIFEENEE - WEXESH AR
HEHAREHER - REXRE - BBARREK
KATSERERTFIZE -



Management Discussion and Analysis

BB am M oA

There is no assurance that (i) our Group would be invited to or be
informed of the tendering or bidding process for new projects;
(i) the terms and conditions of potential new contracts would be
comparable to our existing contracts; (iii) our customers would
continue to include our Group in the tendering process; and (iv) our
tenders would be selected by our customers. If we are unable to
maintain our competitiveness in, among other things, standards of
management, industrial expertise, financial capability, reputation,
regulatory compliance and terms and conditions of our tenders, our
Group may be less likely to be selected as subcontractor for new
projects. If our customers cease to engage us to provide formwork
services and we fail to replace such customers in a timely manner,
our business, results of operations and financial position may be
materially and adversely affected.

Recent occurrence of novel coronavirus infection in Hong Kong

The recent occurrence of novel coronavirus infection in Hong Kong
may significantly and adversely impact our business operation and
financial performance;

In such event, the resultant unfavourable economic conditions
of Hong Kong, dampened market sentiment and decreased
purchasing power of the general public could be a disincentive for
property developers or other ultimate customers to commence
new construction projects, thus delaying or reducing the number
of new projects to be awarded to us. Health safety risks during
the occurrence of COVID-19 may also lead to labour shortage,
increase in wages of the workers and/or interruption of our business
operation, delaying the work progress of our projects as a result. In
case of any infection report of COVID-19 found in construction sites,
the Hong Kong government will likely suspend the operation of the
sites for health safety reasons and our workers may be prevented
from working on site, and thereby resulting in unexpected delay to
the progress of our projects. Such delay and suspension may affect
our ability to discharge the contractual obligations owed to our
customers, which may cause material and adverse impact to our
business operation and financial performance. Since a large portion
of formwork materials are supplied from the PRC, any temporary
closure of suppliers’ production facilities, transportation restrictions
and boundary control may lead to a disruption of our supply chain
and delay the progress of our ongoing projects. The above adverse
impacts, especially if they materialise and persist for a substantial
period, may significantly and adversely affect our business operation
and financial performance. Furthermore, if we cannot receive
the payments from our customers in a long term due to delay or
suspension of our projects under the outbreak of COVID-19, we may
not be able to undertake more projects in the near future because
our internal resources as well as our existing banking facilities
would not be sufficient to support our expansion plan, which may
adversely affect our financial position and future prospects.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB am M AT

Cash flow mismatch

Our Group may need to incur various upfront costs before receipt
of payments from customers, and such cash flow mismatch may
materially and adversely affect our liquidity and financial position;

In undertaking our project works, we may incur various upfront
costs, including (i) payment to our subcontractors; (ii) payment of
material costs; (iii) direct labour costs to our workers; and (iv) other
costs such as utilities and insurance, as required.

Our Group's cash inflows mainly comprise progress payments from
our customers. Our customers will pay progress payments after
our works has commenced and the value of the completed works
is confirmed and certified by our customers. Our customers will
generally retain a maximum amount of 5% of the total contract sum
as retention money, which will be released if no defects are found in
our works.

The greater the number of projects our Group is required to carry
out, the larger the upfront costs our Group will likely have to incur.
This may lead to a significant outflow of financial resources within
a short period of time, and our cash flows and financial position
may deteriorate due to the potential timing mismatch between
receipt of progress payments from our customers, and payments
to our suppliers and subcontractors. There is no assurance that
our customers will make progress payments on time or that the
retention money will be released in a timely manner or in full after
the inspection process of completed works, which may in turn give
rise to disputes. When there is delay in the inspection process or
when a dispute arises in respect of certification of works by our
customers, it may result in delay of progress payments. Furthermore,
in the course of project implementation, our customers may also
place orders to change the original design or specifications or
require additional works or reduce the scope of our works. However,
such additional works may not be fully covered under the scope
of variation orders set out in the original terms of contract. As
such, there may be occasions where additional fees cannot be
determined or generally agreed upon with our customers before the
commencement of such additional works, and we may only receive
part of the progress payments during the course of the project. Any
failure by our customers to make progress payments to us or release
the retention money may have a material adverse impact on our
liquidity and financial position.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB am M oA

There is also no assurance that we will not record negative operating
cash flows in the future. Net cash outflows from operating activities
may adversely affect our liquidity position, and reduce our financial
flexibility and our ability to obtain additional borrowings from banks,
which in turn may adversely affect the implementation of our future
plans.

Discrepancy between estimated costs and actual costs

Our Group determines our price based on the estimated time and
costs required to complete the works, but the actual time and
costs incurred may exceed our estimation due to unexpected
circumstances, and such discrepancy may adversely affect our
business, results of operations and financial performance.

Our Group's pricing model depends on our estimation of the costs
to be incurred for each project plus a mark-up for the desired profit
margin. An accurate estimation of costs is therefore crucial for
maintaining our Group'’s business growth and profitability. However,
the actual time and costs involved in completing our projects
may be adversely affected by various factors that are beyond our
control, including but not limited to, shortage and cost escalation in
materials and direct labour, condition of the construction sites, on-
site project arrangement by our customers, inefficiency and delay
caused by errors, adverse weather conditions, disputes with our
customers or subcontractors, change in design by our customers,
worksite accidents and changes in governmental policies. In such an
event, our Group may have to bear additional costs for completing
and delivering the works within the requisite timeframe. We may
also be required to pay our customers liquidated damages for the
delay in completion of works. Any previous delay in the delivery of
our works may also be taken into consideration by our customers
during the course of the competitive tendering process, and thus
may have an adverse impact on our chances of winning future
tenders.

In particular, labour cost (including workers of our subcontractors
and us) is the major cost for our construction projects. If there is any
unexpected significant increase in labour cost, we may not be able
to shift the costs to our customers due to the competitive market
environment and/or contractual provisions with our customers,
which may result in adverse effect to the financial performance of
our Group.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS, WORKING
PARTNERS AND EMPLOYEES

The Group maintains long-term relationships with its customers
and working partners (including subcontractors, suppliers and
consultants), some of which have established more than 10 years of
working relationship with the Group. The close working relationship
can also be demonstrated by the increasing number of project
portfolios and continuous cooperation with working partners which
may be engaged by the Group in one or more of its projects at the
same time. Building successful long-term relationships with them
is a key element of the Group’s business model, which is closely
interlinked with all the other elements of its model. Successful
long-term relationships are built on trust — a trust that the Group is
able to provide quality service and excellent customer experience.
To achieve this, the Group needs experienced people with the
right skills and capabilities as well as continuous supports from its
working partners.

The Group also maintains a very stable and experienced
management team and an amicable long-term relationship with
its employees. The Group's key management team comprises
executive Directors and senior management, their biographies
mentioned in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management” in this report. The Group's experienced
management team, coupled with a stable pool of skilled labour, is
one of its key drives in delivering high quality work to customers in
order to attain high customers’ satisfaction.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATION

The Directors confirmed that during FY 2021 and up to the date
of this report, the Group had obtained all the registrations and
certifications required for its business and operations in Hong Kong,
and had complied with the applicable laws and regulations in Hong
Kong in all material respects.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to environmental protection and
sustainable development through promoting and adopting green
practices in its business activities. Initiatives within the Group
include, but are not limited to, encouraging employees to reduce
paper consumption by reuse of single-sided printed paper, to assess
the necessity of printing where appropriate and to use duplex
printing. The Environment, Social and Governance Report of the
Company prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to the Listing
Rules are set out on pages 54 to 101.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group's overall funding and treasury activities are currently
managed and controlled by the Directors and senior management.
The Directors and senior management will closely monitor the
Group's liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of
the Group’s assets, liabilities, and other commitments can meet its
funding needs.
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RBZIRIE - L ERERBREHNA4EE 10T
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Eﬁ/\ﬁaﬁ&? Hlo-BEERBEEEARR

DERAKENRBE DN - ABERAEKE
éﬁ% CBEREMAENRDESRBRENEGH

S ==
ﬁ\/ﬁﬁ}(o

As at
31 March 2020
7202093 A31H

As at
31 March 2021
7202163 H31H

B =
BERBHE(%)
BARBELEE(%)

Current ratio’
Gearing ratio (%)?
Debt to equity ratio (%)*

43 times &
0.6%
N/A N3 A

4.2 times &
3.0%
N/A 38 A

Notes:

1. Current ratio is calculated based on the total current assets divided by
the total current liabilities as at the respective year end.

2. Gearing ratio is calculated based on the payables incurred not in
the ordinary course of business (being bank borrowings and lease
liabilities) divided by total equity as at the respective year end and
multiplied by 100%.

3. Debt to equity ratio is calculated based on the net debt (being bank
borrowings and lease liabilities net of cash and cash equivalents)
divided by the total equity as at the respective year end and
multiplied by 100%.
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Current ratio decreased from 4.3 as at 31 March 2020 to 4.2 as at 31
March 2021, mainly due to increase in trade payables. Gearing ratio
increased from 0.6% as at 31 March 2020 to 3.0% as at 31 March
2021, mainly due to increase in bank borrowings. Debt to equity
ratio is not applicable as at 31 March 2021 due to the cash and
cash equivalents larger than the total of bank borrowings and lease
liabilities at that date.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$196.8 million (31 March 2020: approximately
HK$33.3 million) and restricted cash of approximately HK$17.5
million (31 March 2020: N/A). Such restricted bank balances were
held for the requirement of our general banking facilities. The Group
expected to fund the future cash flow needs through internally
generated cash flows from operations and bank facilities.

The capital structure of the Group consisted of equity of
approximately HK$359.0 million and debts (lease liabilities and bank
borrowings) of approximately HK$10.7 million as at 31 March 2021.

The Group adopts a prudent approach in cash management. Apart
from certain debts including lease liabilities and bank borrowings,
the Group did not have any material outstanding debts as at 31
March 2021. Payment to settle trade payable represented the
significant part of the cash outflow of the Group. Taking into
account the light debt leverage, the Group is able to generate
cash and meet upcoming cash requirements. In any case, the
Group may utilise its banking facilities of HK$70.0 million, of which
the unutilised and unrestricted banking facilities amounted to
approximately HK$60.0 million.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The net proceeds from the Listing involving the issue of 250,000,000
Shares of the Company amounted to approximately HK$97.0
million. The following table sets out the breakdown of the use of net
proceeds from the Listing and up to 31 March 2021:

LT REREFEAR

T ATS FRIE B B FE 17 250,000,000 % AR A ]
A% - B1EE97,000,000/67C - TREMBLEHE
202143 A31 B HAE AT S SOBFREM AR AR ¢

Expected
Utilised Unutilised  timeline for
Intended amount amount  utilizing
use of net (asat 31 March (asat 31 March  the unutilized
proceeds 2021) 2021)  net proceeds
P8 RIA (PR20214F (F2021F  BRARBA
FRREY 3A318) 3A31R)  FER0A
FFEIRE EBARIE  KPAKE  HED
HKS'million HKS'million HKS'million  TEHARFREIER
BEST  BEST  BEsT
Financing the upfront BABRMER R 824 69.1 133 tobe fully
funding needs for our ENESTE utilized before 31
projects March 2022
20224
3A31EAIRR
A
Expanding our workforce AR S T 49 08 41 tobefully
utilized before 31
March 2022
20224
3A3TEAT R
A
General working capital —REEES 9.7 9.7 —  Fully utilized
TEEHA
97.0 79.6 17.4

EMPLOYEES

=]

The Group had 830 employees as at 31 March 2021 (2020: 704).
The Group offers competitive remuneration package that is based
on overall market rates and employee performance, as well as
performance of the Group. Remuneration package is comprised
of salary, performance-based bonus, and other benefits including
training and provident funds.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Group had no capital commitments as at 31 March 2021.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s motor vehicle under hire purchase
arrangement is secured by the lessors’ charge over the leased asset
with net book values of approximately HKS0.1 million (31 March
2020: HK$0.3 million). In addition, as at 31 March 2021, bank deposits
of HK$17.5 million were pledged to secure the banking facilities
granted to the Group (31 March 2020: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in note 27 to the Financial Statements, the Group
had no other contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2021 (2020: Same).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group has no significant exposure to foreign currency risk
as substantially all of the Group's transactions are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi (“RMB”). In this respect, the
only risk it faced arose from exposures mainly to RMB. The risk
was mitigated as the Group held Hong Kong dollars RMB bank
accounts to finance transactions denominated in these currencies
respectively.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of its foreign currency transactions, assets
and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider using hedging instruments in respect of
significant foreign currency exposure as and when appropriate.

MARKET RISK

Market risk is the risk that affects the Group’s profitability or its ability
to meet business objectives and it arises from the movement in
market prices, like interest rates and equity prices.

The management of the Group manages and monitors these risks
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

Save as disclosed in Note 24 to the Financial Statements, there were
no significant investments held, material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies during FY 2021.

SHARE OPTIONS

Written resolutions were passed on 17 July 2020 to adopt the share
option scheme (the “Scheme”). No share options have been granted,
exercised or cancelled under the Scheme since its adoption date
and up to the date of this annual report. The Scheme will remain in
force for a period of 10 years after the date of adoption.

PROSPECTS

(the "COVID-19
Outbreak”) since January 2020 may affect the business environment
in Hong Kong. The Group considered that the COVID-19 Outbreak
did not significantly impact the Group’s financial performance for
the year ended 31 March 2021, but if such situation continues in the

The outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019

long term, the Group’s business operations and financial results may
be affected, the extent of which could not be estimated at the date
of this annual report.

Even though the Group facing the challenging business
environment and vigorous competition in Hong Kong construction
industry, taking into account the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region’s policy in increasing land supply
and commitment to infrastructure investments, the Board is
still confident with the Group’s future development in its scale
of operations due to its long-established reputation, the listing
platform and healthy financial position. To maintain its competitive
edge, the Group continues to adhere to its business strategy, by
expanding our capacity to capture more business opportunities,
enlarge our customer base, and offering qualitative services to its
customers.
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Our Board of Directors consists of six Directors, including two
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors. Our Board of Directors
is responsible for and has general powers for the management
and conduct of our business. The following table sets forth the
information concerning our Directors:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (&), aged 61, was appointed as an
executive Director and the chairman of our Board on 9 August 2019.
Mr. Lo is also the director in certain subsidiaries of the Company.
He is responsible for the overall strategic planning and business
development and overseeing the daily operation of our Group.

Mr. Lo attained his secondary school education in the PRC. Mr. Lo
has over 35 years of experience in the construction industry. Prior to
the incorporation of CK Engineering together with Mrs. Lo in March
1996, Mr. Lo worked as a foreman in Holly Woodworks Engineering
Limited, a construction company in Hong Kong, from 1981 to 1989,
where he was responsible for monitoring construction projects. He
started and carried out his own construction business under the
trade name of “Chi Kan” from 1989 to 1996.

Ms. Chan May Kiu (FR%£%8), aged 54, was appointed as an
executive Director and the chief operations officer of our Group on
9 August 2019. She is responsible for overseeing the administration,
human resources and financial matters of our Group.

Mrs. Lo attained her secondary school education in Hong Kong.
From October 1986 to July 1989, Mrs. Lo worked as a sales clerk
in Hang Hing Steel Furniture Company, a Hong Kong company
engaged in the sales of furniture, where she was responsible for
the sales and accounting matters of the company. From 1989 to
1993, Mrs. Lo worked as an accounts clerk in Holly Woodworks
Engineering Limited, a construction company in Hong Kong, where
she was responsible for the accounting matters of the company.

1 8 Chi Kan Holdings Limited & ##2RAEMR AR Annual Report 2021 F3R

BAMNEFEHAAREFAN HFBEMEH
TEE  —BHATEER="BBEILFRATE
Z EXRAVAARENEERETRMA
X - TREIIBHEENES :

HITES

EEXKE  615% 0 MN2019FE8 9B ERE A%
TEEREBEZECEF - FNAAEEETHER
AMES - A AEEANBEEIERE MER
BRIEBHEEE -

ERETETETERTEHRE  NERTEHRES
35F4ERR o M19964F3 AR E A KM IS E)
TR ELAEBE18IEFERI1989FRN—BEBZE
ERREMNTIREERARTERET 8 FEEE
HIHH o HE1989F £1996F BRI [ #) | iZh
RAPETITR AR B R LTS o

BREEZL 5455 0 R2019F8 AR EEZ T A
TEERAEELERE - FAFTEBAEET
B ANERRBMIEEE -

ERAAKREBZTKPEHE - H1986F 1082
198978 ' EXARBBE —BNRBRMBEENA
AEEMARMARTREEXE AFE%AA
RSEENESTET - B1989F 219936  EAKN
REB—HEEQAREMIEERAR TR
XE BEZATINEGIER -



Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EENESEERAEGE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. Yang Tao (#B7EfE 1), aged 60, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 9 August 2019. He is responsible for providing
strategic advice to the business development of our Group.

Dr. Yang completed his postgraduate studies in road engineering in
the Nanjing Institute of Technology in February 1988. In December
1995, he obtained his Doctorate’s degree in highways, city roads
and airport engineering from the Southeast University in the PRC.
He was awarded the title of professor in transportation engineering
by the Southeast University in June 1996. Dr. Yang was a deputy of
the tenth National People’s Congress of the PRC between 2003 and
2008. He is currently a deputy of the sixteenth Nanjing Municipal
People's Congress and a member of its standing committee.
Dr. Yang is currently a registered town planner and a registered
engineer of civil engineering (road engineering) in the PRC.

Dr. Yang has over 30 years of experience in the engineering field
in the PRC. Dr. Yang has been engaged in the strategic research
and planning of urban and regional transportation system, public
transport and railway system, including the white paper on
Nanjing transportation development, planning of Nanjing urban
rail transit network and the white paper of Foshan transportation
development. Since October 1996, he has been the chairman of the
board of Nanjing Institute of City & Transport Planning Company
Limited* (BRI ™ EBRERAAREROBR QA
(formerly known as Nanjing City Transport Planning Institute* (F8
AR MR EIFZCAT)), where he was responsible for the overall
business management, strategic development and technological
innovation of the company.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung (RRRIE LRI EEN), aged 71, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 17 July
2020.

Sr. Dr. Leung obtained his Bachelor’'s degree of Social Science
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1976.
In November 2002, he took up a distance-learning course and
graduated with a Doctorate’s degree of Philosophy in Business
Administration from Empresarial University, Costa Rica. In November
2004, he obtained his Master’s degree of Science in International
Real Estate from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Sr. Dr. Leung was qualified as an estate agent in Hong Kong
in August 2001. He was admitted as a registered professional
surveyor in the General Practice Division in January 2006, and in the
Planning and Development Division and the Property and Facility
Management Division in April 2014. Sr. Dr. Leung is currently a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Real Estate Administrators, a
fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and a fellow of The
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.

Sr. Dr. Leung has over 40 years of experience in the surveying
industry and property market. He was previously employed by the
Lands Department of the Hong Kong government from January
1977 to June 1978, and from the 1980's onwards by various
property developers as well as a surveyor company in Hong Kong.
In February 1996, Sr. Dr. Leung also incorporated his own company,
New & Nice Limited (currently known as TL Properties Consultants
International Limited), which is engaged in the business of property
management and consultancy, and is currently the chairman of the
group responsible for supervising the overall project management
as well as formulating and implementing company policies and
strategies. He was an independent non-executive director of South
China Holdings Company Limited (formerly known as South China
(China) Limited), a company listed on the Main Board (stock code:
413) and South China Assets Holdings Limited (formerly known as
South China Land Limited), a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8155) between December 2012 and June
2017. Since March 2016, Sr. Dr. Leung has been an independent
non-executive director of Wang On Properties Limited, a property
developer listed on the Main Board (stock code: 1243).
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Ms. Chan Sze Man (BRF#), aged 39, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 17 July 2020.

Ms. Chan obtained her Bachelor's degree of Business Administration
in Accounting from The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology in November 2003. She has been a fellow of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since March 2016.

Ms. Chan has over 15 years of experience in the accounting and
auditing industry in Hong Kong. From September 2003 to April 2010,
Ms. Chan worked in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, an international
accounting firm, with her last position as a manger. In June 2010,
she joined Tongda Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on
the Main Board (stock code: 698), which is engaged in the electronic
products business, as an account manager and was promoted to
the position of chief financial officer and company secretary in
January 2011, where she was responsible for the corporate finance,
accounts and company secretarial functions until August 2018,
when she has been appointed as a non-executive director of the
company. Ms. Chan acted as an independent non-executive director
of Sunrise (China) Technology Group Limited (currently known as
KOALA Financial Group Limited), a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8226) from October 2012 to April 2015.
Ms. Chan also acted as an independent non- executive director
of Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited, a company listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8147) from June 2014
to July 2017. She has served as an independent non-executive
director of Future Development Holdings Limited (formerly known
as China Child Care Corporation Limited), a company listed on
the Main Board (stock code: 1259) since September 2016. From
September 2018 to November 2019, Ms. Chan worked in Transmit
Entertainment Limited, a company listed on the Main Board (stock
code: 1326), which is engaged in media and entertainment business
in Hong Kong and the PRC, as the chief financial officer where she
was responsible for finance, accounts and secretarial matters of the
company.
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In March 2012, two writs of summons were issued against Seamless
Green China (Holdings) Limited (“Seamless Green"), a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8150), and its
directors including Ms. Chan. One of the claims alleged that the
directors of Seamless Green breached their fiduciary duties by
issuing a notice to convene a special general meeting in Dongguan,
Guangdong at an early hour of the day so as to discourage or
prevent shareholders from attending and voting at the special
general meeting. The other claim alleged that the directors of
Seamless Green breached their fiduciary duties by issuing warrants
and share options to others so as to dilute the then shareholders’
voting rights which might result in the relevant resolutions at the
special general meeting not being passed. The writs were issued
against Ms. Chan solely because she was then one of the directors of
Seamless Green and none of the claims was made against Ms. Chan
personally. Ms. Chan resigned from her position in November 2013.
The claims relating to Ms. Chan under the writs were dismissed in
April 2018

Save as disclosed herein, Ms. Chan has not been a director of
any public company the securities of which are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas during the three years
immediately preceding the date of this annual report.

Mr. Jiang Jungan (££3£), aged 57, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 17 July 2020.

Mr. Jiang obtained his Bachelor's degree in mechanical engineering
from Yangzhou University in September 1998. He obtained the
qualifications for Senior Engineer and Constructor in the profession
of roads in the PRC in December 2003 and December 2005
respectively.

Mr. Jiang has over 35 years of experience in the engineering industry
in the PRC. From 1980s to 2008, he worked for the engineering
department of Yancheng City (B3 1) under various positions.
Since 2008, he has worked in China City Construction Second
Engineering Bureau Group Company Limited* (FIEE TR R
SBEBR AR (currently known as China Overseas Construction
Group Company Limited* (F/EINEREEHRAR))
engaged in the business of road engineering and construction, and

, which is

Mr. Jiang is the chief engineer in charge of the technological aspects
of the company.
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Mr. Chu Pui Fai Raymond (55T #8), aged 63, is the safety manager
of our Group. He joined our Group in July 2019 and has been
responsible for the safety matters of our Group.

Mr. Chu obtained the Diploma in safety engineering from the
China University of Geosciences (Wuhan) in April 2004. In 2003, he
obtained various certificates in safety engineering in respect of (i)
theory of occupational safety and health; (ii) occupational safety and
health legislations; (iii) safety and health management; (iv) lifting
and mechanical safety engineering; (v) construction safety; (vi)
safety audit and site inspection; and (vii) investigation and reporting
of accident from The Society of Certified Safety Engineers of Hong
Kong. Mr. Chu is currently registered as a Safety Auditor and Safety
Officer of the Labour Department.

Mr. Chu has over 20 years of safety experience. From 1997 to
November 2014, he worked as a foreman/safety officer of Hip Hing
Construction Company Limited, a construction company in Hong
Kong and a wholly-owned subsidiary of NWS Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board (stock code: 659). In Hip
Hing Construction Company Limited, Mr. Chu was responsible for
ensuring the safety compliance of various construction projects
of the company. In November 2014, he founded Construction
Engineering Safety Consultant Company and also acted as its safety
manager to review and advise on safety matters.
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Mr. Tam Ping Cheong Jackson (Bff &), aged 63, is the project
manager of our Group. He joined our Group in July 2019 and has
been responsible for managing projects of our Group.

Mr. Tam obtained the Certificate in civil engineering and the Higher
Certificate in civil engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
(currently known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in
November 1981 and November 1984 respectively.

Mr. Tam has over 40 years of experience in the construction industry.
From 1976 to 2004, he worked for various construction companies
in Hong Kong. Mr. Tam incorporated Chi Kan Engineering Company
Limited (2 £) T2 B PR /2 7)) in Macau together with Mr. Lo in July
2004, and he was responsible for managing various construction
projects until the dissolution of the company in October 2013. From
April 2014 to March 2015, he worked as a site agent of Leighton
Contractors (Asia) Ltd., a construction company in Hong Kong,
where he was responsible for overseeing the site operations of the
company. From May 2015 to May 2019, he worked as a site manager
of VESTA Engineering and Consulting Limited, a construction
engineering company, and was in charge of several residential
construction projects.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheng Wai Hei (B8{2%&), aged 40, was appointed as the
company secretary of our Group on 5 August 2019. Mr. Cheng
is responsible for the company secretarial affairs of the Group.
Mr. Cheng holds a Master of Business Administration from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a fellow member of the
Association of Charter Certified Accountants and an associate
member of The Chartered Governance Institute, United Kingdom
and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. Mr. Cheng
has over 10 years of experience in accounting and corporate
governance.
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The Board submits the annual report together with the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021
(the “Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
provision of formwork services and other construction services in
Hong Kong (the “Listing Business”).

The activities and particulars of the Company's subsidiaries are
shown under note 24 to the Financial Statements.

GROUP REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 April
2018 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Company Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands. In preparation
of the Listing, the Group underwent the reorganisation pursuant
to which the Company became the holding company of the
subsidiaries now comprising the Group. For details of the
Reorganisation, please refer to note 1.2 to the Financial Statements.

The Listing was completed on 14 August 2020.
BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group, with the description of the
principal risks and uncertainties, for the year ended 31 March 2021
and the likely future development, are included in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report
on page 6 to 17, which forms part of this report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 are set
out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on
page 111 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2021.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held
on 6 September 2021, Monday, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from 1 September 2021, Wednesday to
6 September 2021, Monday, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered.
Shareholders of the Company are reminded to ensure that all
completed share transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Branch Share
Registrar (Branch Share Registrar) in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 31 August 2021,
Tuesday.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no material subsequent event undertaken by the Company
or by the Group after 31 March 2021 and up to the date of this
annual report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last four financial years are included in the
section headed “Financial Summary” in this annual report on page
188, which forms part of this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the shares issued during the year ended 31 March 2021 are
set out in note 20 to the Financial Statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

The Company did not enter into any contract, other than the
contracts of service with the directors or any person engaged in the
full-time employment of the Company, whereby any individual, firm
or body corporate undertakes the management and administration
of the whole, or any substantial part of any business of the
Company.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$267.4 million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in note 12 to
the Financial Statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association and there was no restriction against such
rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS, SUBCONTRACTORS AND
SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group's five largest
customers in aggregate accounted for approximately 83.5% (2020:
approximately 91.8%) of the Group’s total revenue. The largest
customer accounted for approximately 49.1% (2020: approximately
59.8%) of the Group's total revenue.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group's five largest
subcontractors in aggregate accounted for approximately 71.3%
(2020: approximately 70.0%) of the Group's total subcontracting fee.
The largest subcontractor accounted for approximately 25.3% (2020:
approximately 27.7%) of the Group's total subcontracting fee.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group's five largest
suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately 75.9% (2020:
81.5%) of the Group’s total material costs. The largest supplier
accounted for approximately 33.8% (2020: approximately 43.0%) of
the Group's total material costs.

At no time during the year have directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company)
had any interest in these major customers, subcontractors and
suppliers.
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TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s shares.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Written resolutions were passed on 17 July 2020 to adopt the share
option scheme (the “Scheme”). No share options have been granted,
exercised or cancelled under the Scheme since its adoption date
and up to the date of this annual report. The Scheme will remain in
force for a period of 10 years after the date of adoption.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to this annual report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman)
Ms. Chan May Kiu

Non-executive Director
Dr.Yang Tao
Independent Non-executive Directors

Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung
Ms. Chan Sze Man
Mr. Jiang Jungan

Pursuant to Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, at each
annual general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time
being shall retire from office by rotation. However, if the number
of Directors is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to
but not less than one third shall be the number of retiring Directors.
The Directors to retire in each year shall be those who have been
in office longest since their last re-election or appointment but, as
between persons who became or were last re-elected Directors
on the same day, those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree
among themselves) be determined by lot.
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Further, pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles of Association, any
Director so appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office
only until the first general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting.

In accordance with Articles 108 and 112 of the Articles of
Association, Lo Hon Kwong, Chan May Kiu, Yang Tao, and Leung
Tony Ka Tung shall retire from office at the 2021 annual general
meeting (the 2021 AGM"). All of the above retiring Directors, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 2021 AGM.

Details of the Directors standing for re-election at the 2021 AGM are
set out in the circular to be despatched to the shareholders of the
Company together with this annual report.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are
set out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management”on pages 18 to 24 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company and each of the independent non-executive
Directors has signed an appointment letter with the Company. The
appointment of each of the Directors is for a period of three years
commencing from the Listing Date and shall continue thereafter
until it is terminated by either party by giving not less than three
months’ notice.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the 2021
AGM has a service contract with any member of the Group which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that every Director shall be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses and
liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director in the execution
of his duties or otherwise in relation thereto, provided that such
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of fraud or
dishonesty which may attach to such Director. There is appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and officers of the Group. Such provision was in force as of date of
this annual report and during the financial year ended 31 March
2021.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE GROUP’S BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in note 22 to the Financial Statements, no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the
Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a material
interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the
financial statements.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interest in Securities

As at the 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) and the chief executives
of the Company in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations, within the meaning
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"), which (a) were
required to be notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
recorded in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the "Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”),
were as follows:

EERE
EEREBTRABRE ST RS

MR2021F3A31H  ARRAIZEH([EE ) RARF]
FETBRABRARRIRERE EZE(TERES
MEAEIEGI([ B H RS ]))MRG - B
DRESHF BB QIREESFKBEEGEXVE
FINSDEENMGARRREERERIFBR
Nal([BRFT ) MR RoR R (BIEIRIEE S K
BEOINEBIEXESHEEIRAEENER
KR E) SR RIEEFH RIS GG F 35218 A8
SRR RZIRFTIEN B S MANER AR (OB
BE AT S LR B[ ETARR DM E0mH,
BT AZERHETESFRHMIZESTA (2%
SR DAMS ARG RERFTHERS AR -

(a) Long position in the Shares: (a) RBGHIFE :

Capacity/ Approximate
Name of Directors Nature of interest Total interests Percentage
EEpgE 5%, Rt RESARE BOBEMET
Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (“Mr. Lo") (Note 1) Interest in a controlled 558,750,000 55.9%
EENEE(TESLE]D (MFED) operation

R EEE R
Ms. Chan May Kiu (“Mrs. Lo") (Note 2) Interest of spouse 558,750,000 55.9%
BREGZ 2 ([EAK]) (H7F2) FoiBrEss
Notes: Mtz -

1. Mr. Lo holds the entire issued share capital of Magnificent Faith
Limited ("“Magnificent Faith”) and is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares held by Magnificent Faith for the purpose of
the SFO. Mrs. Lo is the spouse of Mr. Lo. Accordingly, Mrs. Lo is
deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Mr. Lo under
the SFO.

2. Mrs. Lo is the spouse of Mr. Lo. Accordingly, Mrs. Lo is deemed
to be interested in all the Shares held by Mr. Lo under the SFO.
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(b) Long position in the Shares of associated corporation of the

(b) REREEBEBRIGEIIFE

Company:

Capacity/ Approximate
Name of Directors Name of associated corporation ~ Nature of interest Total interests Percentage
EEpg HEzEER 54/ REEtE BRAH BRBEHL
Mr. Lo (Note 1) Magnificent Faith Beneficial owner 558,750,000 55.9%
B4 () {5 EREBA
Note: BT

1. Mr. Lo holds the entire issued share capital of Magnificent
Faith and is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held
by Magnificent Faith for the purpose of the SFO. Mrs. Lo is
the spouse of Mr. Lo. Accordingly, Mrs. Lo is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by Mr. Lo under the SFO.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

So far as was known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2021, the
following persons (not being Directors or chief executive of the
Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fail to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or who were directly or
indirectly interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class
of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of any member of the Group:
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of Shares interests in

Name Nature of interest (Note 1) our Company

REE A RS

wEEB ERME (PfFET) BHNBED

Magnificent Faith Beneficial owner 558,750,000 55.9%
=12 EnEAA ordinary Shares (L)
558,750,000%
LAz

Mr. Lo (Note 2) Interest in a controlled 558,750,000 55.9%
& %o & (FsE2) corporation ordinary Shares (L)
A E R 558,750,000P%
Egl(N)

Mrs. Lo (Note 3) Interest of spouse 558,750,000 55.9%
BEAK(F3E3) fo (B e ordinary Shares (L)
558,750,000/%
TEAR)

CT Vision Strategic Company Limited Beneficial owner 170,126,000 17.0%
(“CT Vision Strategic”) BmEA A ordinary Shares (L)
PRAEREERAR([FREREERE]) 170,126,0008%
LAz

Dr. Ho Chun Kit Gregory Interest in a controlled 170,126,000 17.0%

(“Dr. Ho") (Note 4)
A EEE L (TAE L)) (i sE4)

corporation
R EE s

Notes: Bt
1. The letter (L) denotes the person’s long position in our Shares. 1lc
2. Magnificent Faith is a company incorporated in the BVl and is wholly- 2.

owned by Mr. Lo. Mr. Lo is deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by Magnificent Faith for the purpose of the SFO.

3. Mrs. Lo is the spouse of Mr. Lo. Accordingly, Mrs. Lo is deemed to be 3.
interested in all the Shares held by Mr. Lo under the SFO.

4. CT Vision Strategic is a company incorporated in the BVl and is wholly- 4.
owned by Dr. Ho. Dr. Ho is deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by CT Vision Strategic for the purpose of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, the
Directors were not aware of any other person (other than the
Directors) who had, or was deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who was
directly or indirectly interested in 10% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executives’ Interest in Securities” above, at no time during the
year was the Company, its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of
the Company or their associates to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of Shares or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

No purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities
was made by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 March 2021.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, there were no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company
which require compliance with any of the reporting, announcement
or independent shareholders” approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules from
the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 37 to 53.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in the mandatory provident fund prescribed
by the Mandatory Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and certain retirement benefit scheme under
the regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). Save
as the aforesaid, the Group did not participate in any other pension
schemes during the year ended 31 March 2021.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct of
dealings in securities of the Company by Directors. Upon specific
enquires of all the Directors, each of them confirmed that they have
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
during the year.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS UNDER RULE 13.18 OF THE
LISTING RULES

As at 31 March 2021, the Company as guarantor, and Chi Kan
Woodworks Company Limited (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company) as borrower, entered into facility agreements
relating to a HK$40 million (“Facility 1”) and a HK$30 million (“Facility
2") general banking and term loan facilities with licensed banks in
Hong Kong as lenders.
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According to the Facility 1 and Facility 2, the Company, as guarantor,
has undertaken to the lenders that not less than 60% and 30%
operating sales proceeds to be credited to respective accounts.

A breach of the above undertakings will constitute an event of
default, and the lenders may cancel or suspend the facilities and
demand repayment of any outstanding amounts under the facility
agreements together with interest accrued thereon.

The above undertakings contain covenants relating to specific
performance of the controlling shareholders of the Company which
are subject to disclosure under Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 have
been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who will retire and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the 2021 AGM.

By order of the Board
Chi Kan Holdings Limited

Lo Hon Kwong
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 25 June 2021
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report of
the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance with an aim to protect the
interest of shareholders.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 14 (the “CG Code") of the Listing Rules. Upon
the Listing and up to 31 March 2021, the Company complied with
all applicable provisions of the CG Code except for the deviation as
stated below:

Pursuant to A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. The Company does not officially have chief
executive. The role and function of chief executive have been
performed by all the executive Directors collectively. The Board
believes that the present arrangement is adequate to ensure
an effective management and control of the Group's business
operations. The Board will continue to review the effectiveness of
the Group's structure as business continues to grow and develop in
order to assess whether any changes, including the appointment of
chief executive officer, is necessary.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules upon the Listing. All
the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code during the year from the Listing
Date to the date of this annual report in response to the specific
enquiry made by the Company.

The Board has established written guidelines no less exacting than
the Model Code for relevant employees in respect of their dealings
in the securities of the company as required under the CG Code.
No incident of non-compliance of such guidelines by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company since the Listing.
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THE BOARD

The Board acts in good faith, with due diligence and care, to
discharge its duties concerning the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders. The primary role of the Board is to protect
and enhance long term shareholders’ value; it also oversees the
management, business, strategies and financial performance of
the Group to ensure that good corporate governance policies and
practices are implemented within the Group. The management is
responsible for the execution of the strategies in the Group’s daily
operations and the implementation of the risk management and
internal control systems.

The composition of the Board during the year and up to the date of
this annual report is set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman)
Ms. Chan May Kiu

Non-executive Director
Dr.Yang Tao
Independent Non-executive Directors

Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung
Ms. Chan Sze Man
Mr. Jiang Jungan

The biographies of the Directors during the year and up to the date
of this annual report and the relationships among them are set
out in the “Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management”
section on pages 18 to 24 of this annual report. The executive
Directors bring a good balance of skills and experience to the
Company. The independent non-executive Directors provide their
independent judgement on the development, performance and risk
management of the Group. The Directors are fully aware that they
are individually and collectively accountable to shareholders.
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The executive Directors have entered into service contracts
with the Company and each of the independent non-executive
Directors have been appointed on a specific term of three years.
Notwithstanding the specific term of appointments, the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) provide
that every Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
the annual general meeting at least once every three years. At each
annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being shall retire shall retire from office by rotation and be eligible
for re-election by the shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board takes the responsibility to oversee all major matters of
the Company, including the formulation and approval of all policy
matters, overall strategies, internal control and risk management
systems, and monitor the performance of the senior executives. The
Directors have to make decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company.

Liability insurance for the Directors and senior management officers
of the Company was maintained by the Company with coverage for
any legal liabilities which may arise in the course of performing their
duties.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Since the Listing Date, the Board at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors representing one-third of
the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that
all independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The management, consisting of executive Directors along with
other senior executives, is delegated with responsibilities for
implementing the strategy and direction as adopted by the Board
from time to time, and conducting the day-to-day operations of the
Group.

Executive Directors and senior executives meet regularly to review
the performance of the businesses of the Group as a whole, co-
ordinate overall resources and make financial and operational
decisions. The Board also gives clear directions as to their powers of
management including circumstances where management should
report back, and will review the delegation arrangements on a
periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs
of the Group.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall
strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of
the Group. Directors may participate either in person or through
electronic means of communication.

Pursuant to code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, the Board should
meet regularly and board meetings should be held at least four
times a year.
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The attendance of the respective Directors to the Board Meeting
since the Listing and up to the date of this annual report are set out

REFE LT EAFHRABLFEZTSSRNG
REINT

below:
Attendance/
Number of
meeting between
the Listing Date
and the date of
this annual report
FHEHEARER
BEAZ B HE
REEERE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman) BEXRTE(FE) 2/2
Ms. Chan May Kiu PREBL L 2/2
Non-executive Director FHITES
Dr. Yang Tao o)1= 2/2
Independent Non-executive Directors BUkHITES
Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung Z2RIFB IR ER/D 2/2
Ms. Chan Sze Man PREFBZ T 2/2
Mr. Jiang Jungan =EeEAE 2/2

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF DIRECTORS

During the period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual
report, all Directors confirmed to comply with the provision of
the CG Code in relation to continuous professional development.
In doing so, the Directors have undertaken various forms of
activities relevant to the Company’s business, Directors’ duties and
responsibilities. The Company held a training for all Directors to
provide them with knowledge on the duties and responsibilities of
the Directors before Listing.
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The record of continuous professional development relating to

BETRHEREEAFHABHE  EFEEK

director’s duties and regulatory and business development that XK AEHESBEUNEENERLENFZER
have been received by the Directors for the period from the Listing 3R DEEBEHIA0T -
Date and up to the date of this annual report are summarised as
follows:
Type of Training
(Note)
R
(Mf3E)
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman) EENEE(EE)
Ms. Chan May Kiu PREE L+
Non-executive Director FHITES
Dr. Yang Tao HEELT B
Independent Non-executive Directors BIkHITES
Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung RRIFB TR ZRD B
Ms. Chan Sze Man PREFE T A B
Mr. Jiang Jungan ZRGTE B
Note: PR -
Type of Training BFE R
A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, A : HEFIIRE - BEETRAHRS - Hg -
seminars, conferences and workshops wiE & T 1ES
B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and B : BIEEBEMFEIRT « RE - 17 - M XiEHE
relevant publications i ki 4
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established certain Board committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, to oversee specific aspects of the
Company'’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with specific written terms of reference which clearly
outline the committees’ authority and duties. The terms of reference
of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s website
and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders
upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors. The members of the Board
committees during the period from the Listing Date and up to the
date of this annual report are set out below:

Audit Committee

Ms. Chan Sze Man (Chairlady)
Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung
Mr. Jiang Jungan

Remuneration Committee

Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung (Chairman)
Ms. Chan Sze Man
Mr. Jiang Jungan

Nomination Committee

Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman)
Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung
Ms. Chan Sze Man

Board committee are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at
the Company’s expense.
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Audit Committee

The Company has set up the Audit Committee on 17 July 2020 with
written terms of reference of no less exacting terms than those set
out in the CG Code. The main duties of the Audit Committee are to
assist the Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting
process, internal control and risk management systems, scope of
audit and appointment of external auditors, and arrangements to
enable employees of the Company to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters
of the Company.

The attendance of the respective members to the Audit Committee
Meeting since the Listing and up to the date of this annual report are
set out below:

FRESE

RNATIER2020E7 A7 B%REEE » W3]
ETBERTEEATINERNEARESE -
ERLZEENTFEREAHYESSRNUMEE
BEBREF  AFZFRRBRERRLS « T|ix
HENINERBAN TS UREAQRREE A
HARRMERE - ASPIEH =T A
REERITAIREBENZHE -

EREALEMURREBEAFREAYEEERE
BEEgZnBEREIMT

Attendance/
Number of
meeting between
the Listing Date
and the date of
this annual report

TR HEARER

HH B E

REEERE

Ms. Chan Sze Man (Chairlady) PREFBZ T (/%) 2/2
Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung ZARIFBH IR ER/D 2/2
Mr. Jiang Jungan =g E 2/2

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors on 25 June
2021 without the presence of the executive Directors.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has set up the Remuneration Committee on 17
July 2020 with written terms of reference of no less exacting
terms those set out in the CG Code. The primary functions of the
Remuneration Committee include determining/reviewing and
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management,
the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management; and establishing transparent procedures for
developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that
no Director or any of his associates will participate in deciding his
own remuneration.

The Remuneration committee held one meeting on 25 June
2021 to review and make recommendation to the Board on
the remuneration policy and structure of the Company and the
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior
management and other related matters.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management are set out in the sections headed "Directors’
Remuneration” and "Remuneration of the Senior Management” in
this annual report.

HHESE
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GIRHES - KRR HIET S H R K2R
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HFMEE SN 20216 A25BRITT —RkE% ot
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Attendance/
Number of
meeting between
the Listing Date
and the date of
this annual report

Lt AHERER

BHi 2B HE

RE EERE

Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung (Chairman) ARFE LB EMM(EE) 1/1
Ms. Chan Sze Man PREFB T 1/1
Mr. Jiang Jungan ZReEE 1/
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Nomination Committee

The Company has set up the Nomination Committee on 17 July
2020 with written terms of reference of no less exacting terms than
those set out in the CG Code.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment
of Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of Directors, and assessing
the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company's board
diversity policy, including but not limited to skills, industry and
regional experience, background, race, gender and other qualities
etc. In forming its perspective on diversity, the Company will also
take into account factors based on its own business model and
specific needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee would
discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity
on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board
for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s character,
qualifications, experience, independence and other relevant criteria
necessary to complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board
diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendation to the
Board.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting on 25 June 2021 to
review the composition of the Board and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors, to consider the qualifications
of the retiring directors standing election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on 6 September 2021.

46 Chi Kan Holdings Limited & ##2RAEMR AR Annual Report 2021 F3R

BEZEE

ARFER202057B1I7AKIIREEE S XA
EBERERFEE AT AR R B EREEE -

REZEENIZREERRIEFTINAEAK
MELHEREMETESNEBRERF  RE=
MRERBEAINEESREES - ULFE
BIUIFITESTNEMLIE -

RAAEFESNENEK  REZESHERAR
AEFEL L EBRMBEEES L TLARN
ETHEAR#EZHEER - SEETRNKE 17
EhEER  BR Bk MERREMEE
F o RSB ATE - ARBITEREAN
FHNEBEARTROEEREEEERERE -
REZBERANAUMEENESTE S TN
AEER(WARE)  YREFSRHEEZEUM
R4

RYBLEERENEZTAER REZE8EK
RAEFSRFEEZNZREEANER - B
%K BUMREMBECERE - LS
ERREIEREFEXNEZ T (WER) -

REZEEN2021F6A2BERT — e &
HEZOMENEBYIERITEZTNE LI - F
ZRAEE2021F9 A6 H BT AR R RERAF K
CLRABEENRBEER -



Corporate Governance Report
ok =) /\|:| 315& =)

The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.

REZEERREFEZ T FEENBAE -

Attendance/
Number of
meeting between
the Listing Date
and the date of
this annual report

W AHERFR

B ZEHHE

RE EERE
Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman) BENFTE(EE) 1
Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung ZREIE TR =AM 1
Ms. Chan Sze Man PREFE 2T 1/1
Corporate Governance Functions EEEBA
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out inthe EEE& B EHITHR B EET AT FANEXD.3.]
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. RO RE -

During the period from the Listing Date to the date of this
annual report, the Board had reviewed the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code by
Directors and relevant employees, and the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosures in this Corporate Governance
Report.

RETRRAERFRAYPZHE  EFGCRE
ARANMEEERABRRELRER BEZERSEER
ABRBIIMBSESEER - ARRAETERR
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ERRALEEARENHEAR
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the
Group's the risk management and internal control systems and
reviewing their effectiveness at least annually through the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its
oversight roles in the Group's financial, operational, compliance,
risk management and internal controls, while senior management
designs, implements and monitors the risk management and
internal control systems, and provides reports to the Board and
the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of these systems. Such
systems and internal controls are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the Group’s business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems.

The Company has established formal risk management policy and
risk assessment criteria for the Group. Senior management identify
risks that potentially impact the key processes of their operations on
an annual basis. Risks are scored and ranked by their impact on the
business and the likelihood of their occurrence. Senior management
and department heads assess the effectiveness of the existing
controls and formulate risk mitigating activities. Results of the
annual risk assessment are coordinated by the Company Secretary
and reported to the Audit Committee, including amongst other
things, significant risks of the Group and the appropriate control
activities to mitigate and/or transfer the identified risks.
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The Group has maintained internal control guidelines and
procedures on the Group’s operational cycles relating to revenue,
purchase and expenditure, and human resources etc., to ensure
proper accounting records are kept so that reliable financial
reporting can be provided, the effectiveness and efficiency of
operation can be achieved, and the compliance with applicable
laws and regulations and safeguarding of assets can be maintained.
These procedures, together with the Company’s compliance
manual, have also shaped the control environment in which
and how the Group operates, including the budgeting controls,
investment decision making, risk assessment and practices of
corporate governance.

The Company does not have a formal internal audit department,
however, the Board has put in place adequate measures to perform
the internal audit function at different aspects of the Group.

The Company has engaged an external consultant to conduct
a review on selected business processes of the Group’s internal
control system. Results of the review was communicated to the
Audit Committee. Issues identified are followed up for proper
implementation and the progress will be reported to the Audit
Committee periodically. The Audit Committee assists the Board to
conduct review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems on an ongoing basis and the directors
through the Audit Committees are kept informed of significant risks
that may impact on the Group’s performance. For the year ended 31
March 2021, the Board considered the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group to be effective and adequate.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and is satisfied with the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting function.
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Regular meetings were held between the executive Directors
and senior management to review and monitor the business
and financial performance against the targets, the progress of
certification and contract receipts from the customers, the efficiency
in the use of the Group's resources in comparison to the budgets,
and the operational matters to ensure the Group has complied with
the regulations that have material impact to the Group’s business.
The aim is to enhance the communication and accountability of the
Directors and management so that significant strategic, financial,
operational and compliance risks or potential deviations are timely
identified and dealt with in proper manner, which significant issues
are reported back to the Board for their attention.

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside information,
the Group has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Group's Directors, officers, senior management
and relevant employees in handling confidential information,
monitoring information disclosure and responding to enquires.
While any potential inside information will be escalated to the
executive meetings or the Board via the established reporting
channels, the Directors will assess and determine if the inside
information of the Group exist where timely disclosure is required
to be made by way of an announcement published on the Stock
Exchange website. Control procedures have been implemented to
ensure that unauthorized access and use of inside information are
strictly prohibited.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ emoluments are determined with reference to Directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group. In addition, the Directors’ remuneration is reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee of the Company annually. Details of
the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the Financial
Statements.
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REMUNERATION OF THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the remuneration of senior
management is listed below by band:

FmsE

Band of remuneration

EEE A S %M

ot

REZE2021F3831BILFEE - 5EBEEABNH
BHEsE T T

Number of Person

A

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external auditor of the Company,
provided audit-related services as the reporting accountant of the
Company and other non-audit services in respect of the Company’s
Listing during the year ended 31 March 2021. The remuneration
paid by the Group to PricewaterhouseCoopers for the audit-
related and non-audit services in respect of the Company’s Listing
amounted to HK$2,300,000 and HK$32,000 respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, PricewaterhouseCoopers is
appointed as the external auditor of the Company. The fee paid
and payable in respect of audit services and non-audit services
amounted to HK$ 1,480,000 and HK$200,000 respectively.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy that, in recommending
or declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate and
sufficient cash reserves for meeting its working capital requirements
and future growth as well as its shareholder value. The Board
has the full discretion to declare and distribute dividends to the
Shareholders, and any final dividend for a financial year will be
subject to Shareholders’ approval. In proposing any dividend
payout, the Board shall also take into account, among other things,
the Group's financial results, financial position, cash flow situation,
business conditions and strategies, expected future operations and
earnings, capital requirements and expenditure plans, interests of
Shareholders, any restrictions on payment of dividends and any
other factors the Board may consider relevant. Any payment of the
dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under
the Companies Act, the Company’s bye-laws and all applicable laws
and regulations.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 which
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group. In
preparing the Financial Statements which give a true and fair view, it
is fundamental that the appropriate accounting policies are selected
and applied consistently. The statement of the external auditor of
the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the Financial
Statements is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” on
pages 102 to 110 of this annual report. The Directors were not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which
may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company’s company secretary, Mr. Cheng Wai Hei, coordinates
the supply of information to the Directors and is the primary contact
person within the Company for all matters relating to the duties and
responsibilities of the company secretary. All Directors have access
to company secretary to ensure that Board procedures and all
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. During the year
ended 31 March 2021, he had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

For details of his biography, please refer to the section headed
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

We seriously take care of the shareholders’ interest to ensure that
they are treated fairly and are able to exercise their shareholders’
rights effectively. Shareholders are entitled by the Articles
of Association and are also encouraged to participate in the
Company’s general meetings or appoint proxies to attend meetings
may request the Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting
and put forward proposals. Such requisition should be made in
writing to the Board or the company secretary for such purpose and
should specify the objects of the meeting.
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The Board is not aware of any provisions allowing the shareholders
of the Company to put forward proposals at general meetings of
the Company under the Articles of Association and the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands. Shareholders who wish to put forward
proposals at general meetings may refer to the preceding paragraph
to make written requisition to require the convening of an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

In case a shareholder wishes to nominate a person for election as
director in general meeting, the particulars of the candidate must
be stated in a nomination notice signed and deposited together
with a notice of willingness signed by the candidate to the company
secretary at the Company principal place of business (Rooms 1008
and 1009, 10 Floor, China Shipbuilding Tower, 650 Cheung Sha
Wan Road Kowloon, Hong Kong) or at the Hong Kong branch share
registrar and transfer office of the Company. The notice should be
given at least seven days prior to the date of such general meeting.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining effective and timely
dissemination of the Group’s information to its shareholders and
the market. The annual shareholders’ meetings of the Company
are the primary forum for communication by the Company
with its shareholders and for shareholder participation. At the
annual general meeting of the Company, the Directors (or their
delegates as appropriate) are available to meet shareholders
and answer their enquires. In addition, the Company’s website
(http://www.chikanck.com) contains extensive company
information which is easily accessible.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change to the Company’s constitutional documents
since Listing Date. The memorandum and articles of association are
available on the websites of the Company and Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Enquiries may put to the Board through the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong at Rooms 1008 and 1009, 10 Floor,
China Shipbuilding Tower, 650 Cheung Sha Wan Road Kowloon,
Hong Kong (email: info@chikanck.com).
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SCOPE OF THIS REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
“Report”) describes the environmental, social and governance
("ESG") performance of Chi Kan Holdings Limited (the
"Company”) and the subsidiaries (collectively known as the
"Group” or "We").

Formwork service is the fundamental business segment of
the Group and contributes the vast majority of the Group's
profits. For the principle of materiality, the Report covered
the business of the Group for provision of formwork services
during the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 (the
“Reporting Period” or the “Year”), for disclosing the ESG
performance of our headquarters office in Hong Kong and
the construction sites where the Group was engaged as a
formwork subcontractor.

In the construction sites where the Group was engaged, the
overall operations were in charge by the main contractors of
the projects engaged by the Group for the formwork services.
Under this operational model at the construction sites where
the Group was engaged, the quantitative environmental data
of project sites, such as records related to waste generation
and energy consumption, etc., were directly managed by
the main contractors, and the Group could not access the
mentioned records for disclosure in this Report. Therefore, for
the operation sites covered by this Report, the quantitative
environmental performance contributed by the Group would
focus on the office management of headquarters in Hong
Kong.

The Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in
Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and according
to the actual situation of the Group. The Report is published
annually in each financial year together with the Annual
Report of the Company for the Year.
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2.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

Materiality: The Group regularly makes reference
to the industry sustainability standards at the local
and international level and strives to integrate with
them. At the same time, regular communication with
stakeholders of various aspects is used to identify the
most concerned and important sustainability topics
for the Group. Those sustainability topics will also be
incorporated into the Group's development policies
under the overall strategy of the Group’s operations.

Quantitative: The Group is committed to quantifying
and disclosing key performance indicators and data
within the environmental and social categories, and
whenever feasible, explaining the methods of data
collection and calculation to enhance transparency of
the data.

Balance: In order to maintain the balance of reporting
content, fair disclosure of sustainability performance
and challenges related to the Group and stakeholders is
provided with impartial information to the public.

Consistency: The Group adheres to the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for disclosure,
which allows the Group to make meaningful annual
comparisons of past performance under the same
framework, and to disclose updated calculation
methods of relevant data when necessary.
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COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group convenes annual general meeting with
shareholders to provide an effective channel for the board
of directors to exchange opinions with shareholders. The
Group's overall business performance is reporting to all
investors every year through publishing in our annual report
and annual general meeting. For those customers, suppliers
and subcontractors in close connection with the Group, they
could be communicated through appropriate channels to
listen to their opinions and requests.

In addition, for assuring the regulatory compliance of business
operations, the Group would pay close attention to the
opinions of regulatory authorities, responds and follows up in
a timely manner.

Group's stakeholders

rEEBFNE

3.

BN ERRE

AEBRRRBFARFBAFRS - ARH—
EERRERETSHERRIRER - &
SEEENXGRRESF IR ARFR
FWBTRRBFRE  WRSREEET
PEE % K’ilﬁiﬁﬁ% VEENER - HE
BROBEAEBAERERE KBRS
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MO BTRREBREENEEAR A%
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MR

Main means of communication

TEBERE

Shareholders

BRR

The Group's website

REE L

Annual report and interim report
FREPH®RE

Annual General Meeting for shareholders and

other shareholders’ meetings

BRBEFRE MEMBERAE

Suppliers/subcontractors

Regular meeting

Press releases, financial and other data relating to

the supplier/subcontractor’s business

g, o5 el TEHg®
ER - Bl

Customers

gﬁ %E /E\D% N

Government authorities

BUFEBFT

IR D RRES AR R AR

Phone conference, visits and meetings

RN EH

Policy announcement

HER A

Regulatory communications

/_A-k\
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4.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE PERFORMANCE

4.1

Environmental

It is the Group’s mission to be mindful for protection
of the environment by minimising the environmental
impact regarding our business activities, materials
and services engaged. Apart from complying with the
applicable environmental laws and regulations to which
the Group subscribes, we are committed to preventing
pollution, reducing waste, recycling and minimising
use of natural resources by continually improving our
environmental practices and measures, educating
our employees to adopt environmentally responsible
behaviour, and promoting environmental protection in
our supply chain and marketplace.

4.1.1 Emission
1.1.1 Compliance Measures

Based on the impacts of the Group's
operations on the environment, we have
identified the relevance but not limited
to the following environmental laws and
regulations:

The “Air Pollution Control Ordinance”
of Hong Kong - controls the emission of
air pollutants and noxious odour from
construction, industrial and commercial
activities and other polluting sources, as
well as controls the air pollutant emissions
from certain operations through the issue of
licences and permits.
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The “Noise Control Ordinance” of Hong
Kong - regulates noise from construction
activities, including the use of powered
mechanical equipment (other than
percussive piling) beyond the regulated
hours under normal situation (i.e. without
prior approval).

The “Waste Disposal Ordinance” of
Hong Kong - controls the production,
storage, collection, treatment, recycling
and disposal of wastes. Whilst unlawful
deposition of waste is prohibited, import
and export of waste into and from Hong
Kong is generally controlled through a
permit system.

The “Public Health and Municipal
Services Ordinance” of Hong Kong -
regulates emission of dust from building
under construction or demolition in such
manner not considered as to be a nuisance.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did
not identify any legal non-compliance or
complaint regarding emissions and other
environmental issues.

4.1.1.2 Control Measures Against Pollution

For mitigation of pollution risks as
mentioned in the aforesaid compliance
aspects, the Group is striving to adopt the
following measures at the operation sites
covered by this Report:
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Water pollution VSEES
General wastewater should be — AR EEIK FEBE A K TE
discharged to sink basin or toilet. HEHE o

Noise pollution =G ES

Great care is taken to minimize
noise generated when carrying
out company activities such as
renovations work, formwork, etc., and
to comply with applicable laws and
other requirements of the venue or
workplace.

All renovation work that generates
loud noise has to be arranged after
office hours, in accordance with the
rules set by property management
office and legal requirements.

Hearing protection approved by
Labour Department is available to the
colleagues who may be affected.
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Air pollution

The staff should maintain office
with good ventilation, adjust the
fan coil speed to medium or high if
appropriate.

Some items are known to emit
volatile organic chemicals (VOCs),
which is irritating or even harmful to
health. Therefore, when purchasing
the following items like furniture,
paints & inks, glues & adhesives,
pesticides and air fresheners,
attention is paid to their specification
and those at low VOC emission values
are preferred in selection.

Road traffic is another well-known
source of air pollution in Hong Kong.
When selecting fuel for vehicle
(company or not), preference is given
to use those emitting lower level of
air pollutants (e.g. SOx, NOx, soot &
dusts, etc.).

Given old-model refrigerators or
some air-conditioner models may use
greenhouse gases or ozone depleting
substances as refrigerants, measures
are taken to prevent these gases from
leaking when disposing them.
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4113 EEYEIE

4.1.1.3 Waste Management

Regarding the general operation of
formwork services, the Group would not
generate hazardous waste nor significant
discharge of sewage, and the waste
generated by the Group’s operation was
mainly non-hazardous construction wastes.
As similar with other site operations, all
construction wastes generated would be
responsible and managed by the main
contractors for recording and handling.

EERBRBHN—REEH
H AEETSEELERE
BEEY T gHERK
25K BASEELER
EENBEEPIERER
ROEEEEREY) o BAHE fih T i
ﬁ%ﬁw'%ﬁﬁim@
EEYHHEAEZBASE
EERELHELAEETIE - R
&t P21 FHHREFE AR

Therefore, there was no record of such EgEEERNLE LR
wastes generated in FY 2021 under the @ﬁ%éiﬁ'\]aﬂﬁ?

scope of the Group’s operation.

For wastes generated from our ERPNEXFAETESL

headquarters office, there was only a small
amount of office trash, such as paper wastes
generated from the scrap documents,
which all belong to non-hazardous wastes.
The associated wastes would then be
handed over and centrally collected by
the property management office of the
building where the Group's office is located,
this facilitates the subsequent arrangement
with the qualified agencies for waste
processing and disposal.

4.1.1.4 Waste Reduction Measures in Office

Paper was the key source of solid wastes
generated from the office’s operation.
The Group's office has made good use
of electronic operation system, through
which documents were saved in electronic
form and external communication was
readily proceeded via e-mails. Use of
paper was mainly for record purpose and
consequently no significant amount of
paper-based waste was generated during
the operations. In addition, the Group
has adopted administrative measures for
reducing use of paper, as described in
section “4.1.3.2 Effective Utilisation of Paper
Resources” of this Report.
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4.1.1.5 Control of Greenhouse Gases (GHG) Emission

The source of GHG incurred by our business
activities mainly originated in the form
of energy indirect emission, which was
the consequence of electricity consumed
in the office operations. In response to
reducing these GHG emissions, the Group
adopted the measures for saving electricity
as mentioned in section “4.1.2.1 Energy
Conservation Measures” of this Report.

The following table identified the total
greenhouse gas emission in the Year and
the greenhouse gas emission intensity
calculated on the basis of the number of

4115 B EREE (GHG) FEL

el

BMMEBTBHEEN
GHGEEZRENRLAELE
BB NME A EERE
BHERR o BRI EGHG

HE
£ 412188
Pt )& B o

AEED RIAR
BRI E | —

TRIBAFERERE

T?F MEE

Kz 8 T AN&GET

EHRERBHNEE

employees:

GHG Emission Volume Unit

GHGHEE B

Direct GHG (Scope 1) tonne carbon dioxide equivalent 0

EEGHG(#EE1)

Energy Indirect GHG (Scope 2)

e IR B GHG (%5 E2)

Total GHG Emission Volume
GHGHIH# &

GHG Emission Intensity per Employee’

BB EWGHGH M EHE

number of full-time employees in the Hong Kong headquarters office
(excluding those workers at project sites), regarding the total GHG
was composed of energy indirect emission incurred only by electricity

consumption in the headquarters office.
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4.1.2 Use of Resources 4.1.2 ZFEH
While resource consumption at project sites were FRAIE B Mo A2 8 B IR 8 F B A&
tracked by main contractors under the contracted EEBRBENEMLETER M
responsibility and the Group did not directly own BASEWEFEEREETAEIE
any vehicles for operation at the project sites, the BB EMER - NEEME
main resources consumed and tracked by the FEREGHNEIZERENRAEDN
Group were electricity and paper consumption BHREFREFRE - BEME @ 7
in office. Relatively, water consumption was not IKEWTERE o
significant.
The following table set forth the main resources TRINTARERANRNEBES
consumed by the Group at the headquarters BEHENRAENETEERERES
office in Hong Kong during the Reporting Period: P
Annual
Consumption
Resource by the Group
EIR rEEFEHEES
Electricity (kwh) 19,857
S T R
Paper (kilogram) 800
K N
Water (cubic metre) 0.042
i SR
Average
Consumption
Intensity per
Resource Employee?
BHUuES
&R TG E R E2
Electricity (kWh/person) 794.28
EW) (FEE,/A)
Paper (kilogram/person) 32.00
AR (BT /N)
Water (cubic metre/person) 0.0017
K (AR N)
This calculation is based on the monthly average number of full-time 2 WHENDEREFELIHAENFTAFHEBET
employees in the Hong Kong headquarters office (excluding those AB(TBIEEEHEBHTIA)  BFFERNERE
workers at project sites), regarding the mentioned resources only REIHAEEFE -

consumed by the headquarters office.
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4121 Energy Conservation Measures 4121 BEIRENHIIE 1o
Understood electricity was the key type of BEHRERBEENEE
energy consumption, which also indirectly B JREE M AR RT}FE&Z
generated greenhouse gases into the BERE AEBENGZE
environment. The Group has implemented #}J REBEEBAEATM B
various measures for energy saving purpose ZIRENBLTEIE ¢
through the direction towards green office
management:
(1) Lighting (1) FREH
turn off some lightings when EHAXRER
the occupancy is low, e.qg. F&EJ B o R
during lunch and after office - plan A E
hours; Hﬁ HFSE VNS
&
switch off unnecessary lighting - HEEEBBRAE
in public communal areas, fal 1% B B £ A
such as reception counters, @iEe A0 E
corridors, etc., after normal FRER - flaA 52
office hours; FiERE - EmB
o
reduce the use of high-power - BAOERRD
incandescent lamps. KEEE -
(2)  Air-conditioning ) Z=FH
keep room temperature at - HFEEEE
appropriate level, e.g. 25.5°C; B Bl g IR
255/%
turn off some air-conditioning . EHBAERRR
units when the occupancy is W 28 B &0 o =2
low, e.g. during lunch, after FHEME - Bl
office hours; BRI N o
N
switch on air-conditioning for - AERBAER
pre-cooling no earlier than MRz 3
a specified period, e.g. 15 TTER - Bl
minutes before conference EREHGEA
rooms are to be occupied and Al HY 1590 8
switch off once the room is W EFEEA
unoccupied; sz BREEA :
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dress lightly to minimize use of

air-conditioning in months of

hot weather;

lower window blinds or curtains
before leaving office to reduce
direct sunlight on the following

day.

(3) Computers

activate the standby mode or

hibernation mode features of

personal computers;

switch off the monitors during
lunch and when the staff is

away from the workplace for

meeting, albeit a short one;

switch off personal computers
(including both monitor and
computer processing unit) after

office hours.

(4)  Other Electric Appliance

Purchase electric appliance
with energy-efficient mode or

energy efficiency label.
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4.1.22 Water Conservation Measures

All stages of formwork services engaged
by the Group, not taking account of
the concreting process undertaken
by the subcontractors engaged by
main contractors before striking of the
formwork, generally would not consume
significant amount of water. On the other
hand, the amount of water consumption
at the project sites engaged by Group
would be tracked and managed by the
main contractors under the contracted
responsibility. Therefore, there was no
record of water consumption by the Group
at the project sites during the Reporting
Period.

Water consumption equipment in the office
areas of the Group was managed by the
property management offices responsible
for those areas. Despite water consumption
is relatively insignificant, the Group is still
conveying message on water conservation
to enhance the relevant awareness of
employees.

4.1.2.3 Use of Materials

Within the Reporting Period, the site
projects managed by the Group were
mainly formworks, which did not involve
packing of any finished goods, and
therefore the business operation did
not consume any packaging materials.
The type of materials used for formwork
services were mainly timber and plywood,
aluminium, as well as some other parts or
components used with relevant equipment,
e.g. scaffolding equipment.

Chi Kan Holdings Limited & ##2RAEMR AR Annual Report 2021 F3R

4122 B K I

AN B S EE A IR AR AR 75
BT EREFR - BHTEFA
BMARBMMERANSBER
TERIRIRBR BT AT 1T AR
BRI IEEBRE —HTE
SHEBEAMAKE - B—
FHE EAEEXERIG
B b8 B K £ 15 /B 48K
EERRBARETETE
BRAER - At XEH
RAFREHAEIEE 1R
JRAFRKEREE

AEBEB AR AKER
BHEEZBREMNMEE
HREERE - #AFKEN
HRd o BEAEEDARE
EHAOMKNEE AR
SETMHEBER -

4123 H#HERA

RABEHA - NEBE
BHMBRTIEUNRRA
T FAHEEEAREE B
Itk 5% 755 A% 2 30 4 R A ()
BEME - ARERRS
M HRBEREZRAMN R
AR - 880 AR EBER
B (BIanHR2R 2% 48 ) — R
FE — LB A TSR



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
msr S A7 SO
RIF - g MEVRMRE

4.1.3 Environment and Natural Resources 4.1.3 REBEEAEZR

The Group has a clear understanding of AEFBRE THERMOESELIR

the environmental impacts incurred by our REKNIREZE - ROEAR

operations on the environment. In response WIRRFEBMET BT LaEs
to the public’s concern over environmental EEBENMGERAZTEREER
protection topics, we are monitoring closely on SN BRPERYIE T EERE
the operation processes and where applicable I 7E 8 AR A1 R T = SR B FT R iT
pursuing innovative technology for continuous A EMERIBEM -
improvement of environmental performance, in

addition to the aforesaid energy saving measures

and green office management practices.

4.13.1 Increasing Use of Aluminium in Formwork 4131 B IEEREIR P a9(E A
With advanced technology and EERTHESRITER
development of industrial techniques, it is TrEE  REMS - 8
expected that the construction market in HMEBNBEET ST E
Hong Kong will also embrace the adoption A B B R M AR T 57
of automation technology to improve Fheflam - FEEEER
its competitiveness in the long run. For i TERE T E5 0 N
instance, the mechanised prefabrication el LIL 2 MM AR
construction system is expected to be % WHNRIRIFIRE ©
applied for the purpose to improve
construction safety and cost effectiveness
and to strengthen environmental
protection.

It tends to become a trend in the market RIRERE - BAREZH
of formwork services that more contractors EEEeEAEERES
would use aluminium formworks to BRAARMRRIREHAMm
gradually replace formworks made of other MBI RKEER - mitkE
materials, such as timber and plywood, for K AERIRS T SRBE -
the sake of environmental protection.

Being one of the market leaders, we will EAmBREEZ— &
also drive this trend by persuading the MEEeHRABEESE
contractors to use more prefabricated AREFATEZNEERSR
system whenever possible. Through RS E— B - BBIK
adoption of aluminium material, we could Fiatt - BAA AEER
substitute the use of timber and plywood AR ERR 5 R M R AR AR
in the formworks and hence reduce the DI ERAREE
consumption of such natural wooden TREDEFE ©

resources.
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4.1.32 Effective Utilisation of Paper Resources

Paper was mainly consumed for general
office operations and the Group has
adopted electronic office systems for
the applicable processes with the aim of
reducing paper consumption. Electronic
information and records were classified
by department and centralized stored in
electronic folders to minimize the wastage
of papers from duplicated printing by
employees in the same department.

With the advocacy of environmental
conservation over the past few years,
staff awareness on paper saving has been
highly enhanced and staff members have
developed good habits for adoption of the
following green practices:

use of recycled paper in office
operations;

ii. printing and photocopying on both
sides of paper;

iii.  reuse of single-sided used paper for
drafting, printing and receiving fax;

iv.  reuse of envelopes and loose minute
jackets for internal transmission of
documents and correspondence;

V. communication and dissemination of
information by electronic means; and

vii avoidance in printing or
photocopying documents unless
hardcopy is absolutely necessary.

Moreover, for raising awareness of our
employees, the Group has established
relevant policies and handouts regarding
the appropriate ways for supporting the
subsequent recycling of waste papers.
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4.1.4 Climate Change 4.1.4 FIRE L

The Group is fully aware of extreme weather
being the main risk incurred by climate change,
which ultimately leads to danger and damage
caused by typhoons and rainstorms. Management
assesses these weather risks to construction
projects, hence has defined and adopted relevant
measures for responding to the impacts caused
by typhoons and rainstorm weather:

4.14.1 Response to operational impacts incurred
from climate change

The Group has developed guidelines for
work arrangement in adverse weather,
which guide employees to respond to
possible emergencies, such as being unable
to work at the time of warnings hoisted for
typhoon and rainstorm weather.

Appropriate measures have been defined
for implementation by employees in
different workplaces:

For construction sites, prior to
typhoon, use rope or other tools
to secure the outdoor devices or
machinery for prevention of blowing
down by strong wind.

For office, prior to typhoon, ensure
all windows to keep closed, as well as
regular window inspection and timely
repairs.

Moreover, in order to raise employees’
awareness of disaster preparedness and to
familiarize them with emergency response
measures, the Group provides appropriate
training to ensure that employees possess
relevant knowledge and skills to tackle with
the impacts of extreme weather on the
operations.
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4.14.2 Mitigation against operational impacts
incurred from climate change

Apart from formulating the abovementioned
preparedness plans in response to
climate change, the Group is convinced
of greenhouse gas (GHG) as the key
contributor of climate change, and has
adopted various GHG emission reduction
measures, including the use of energy-saving
lighting in the office areas for reduction of
energy indirect GHG emission, as well as the
priority in local procurement for avoiding
direct GHG emission incurred from overseas
transportation, thereby mitigating the trend
of climate change.

4.2 Social

4.2.1 Employment

The Group recruits directly employed labour
and subcontracts works to provide adequate
and stable workforce for provision of formwork
services and other construction services.
We consider that the combined uses and
arrangements of subcontracting and direct
labour force could uphold the quality control
of our formwork services and ensure sufficient
manpower to complete our formwork projects
in a timely manner, with regard to the required
skills and manpower for a wide variety of projects
undertaken by the Group.

Depending on the level of complexity and scale
of the formwork projects, our project team is
generally comprised of project manager, safety
supervisor, quantity surveyor and formwork
workers. We generally engage subcontractors,
such as carpenters and metal formwork erectors,
to carry out the labour-intensive formwork and
other construction services in our projects.
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The Group strictly abides by the local laws and
regulations of the regions where the Group
is operating for deployment of employment
policies, which cover but not limited to The
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong for
protection of the wages of employees and
defining the general conditions of employment.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not
identify any legal non-compliance or complaints
regarding employment issues.

2.1.1 Recruitment and Promotion

Whenever there are recruitment needs, the
Group will determine the job requirements
specific to the relevant functions and
projects. Recruitment is simply based on
job requirements and shall not be affected
by attributes such as race, ethnicity,
social class, nationality, religion, disability,
gender, sexual orientation, marital status,
age, trade union membership or political
party, in order to avoid any occurrence of
discrimination.

Moreover, the Group has established
clear promotion policy to give adequate
promotion opportunities to eligible
personnel. The Group generally performs
performance evaluation of each employee
in the Hong Kong headquarters office on
annual basis and evaluation is simply based
on work performance for fair and impartial
determination of promotion decision.
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42.1.2 Remuneration and Benefits

The Group provides employees’
remuneration in strict accordance with
relevant laws and regulations, including
the prescribed hourly wage rate under the
Minimum Wage Ordinance of Hong Kong,
as well as enrolment of employees within
the first 60 days of employment in the
Mandatory Provident Fund (MPF) scheme
for general staff or the construction-specific
“Industry Schemes” under the MPF system
for “casual employees or workers” whose
employment is on a day-to-day basis or for a
fixed period of less than 60 days.

For determination of regular salary
adjustment, the Group will review the
rationality and competitiveness of
the current salary structure, based on
employee’s current salary, salary trends in
the market and reference of the industry
average and the results of employee’s
performance evaluation.

In addition, the Group will abide by the
relevant laws and regulations in strict for
provision of other legal benefits, such as
statutory holidays, paid annual leave and
paid maternity leave, etc., as well as for
undertaking separation of employment
with relevant staff.
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42.1.3 Compensation for Work-related Incidents 4213 TIEIRBEF A 518

The Group has maintained insurance AEBAEWAEZEETINIRE
policies for employees’ compensation of BRERF=FEEKRE
our office staff and third-party liabilities. The RiBRE - REEIFE K
main contractors of the Group's projects RAEEBEBERER
are generally responsible for effecting HEREERE ABRH
suitable insurance policies for employees’ B P A [ B Bo B S b AR
compensation, contractors’ all risks and AIEHALT(BEREE
third party liabilities in respect of the NEESIESBENT
persons working at the construction sites NWE=FEFEKRESE
(including the Group’s direct labour and RRBRIREE o

workers from our subcontractors) on a
project-by-project basis.

The Group, or the main contractors and/ REBESIAEERZERHE
or ultimate employers (i.e. property BEMGEERER NS
developers) which the Group is engaging WRET(EMERER)A
for their projects, are accountable for EERBEEBREEMER
adherence to undertaking the required sk BTE B B Hery E {thih
measures whenever necessary pursuant to % B [F] 55 8 7 7 4 B A5 BR
the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance AT BE o

of Hong Kong or equivalent regulations in
the other regions where there are project
implementation.

Employee compensation system is REBECDHEREEFES
established for detailing the respective B HAFTHEENMESR
rights and obligations of employer and B LB ER
employees in both full-time and part-time WIER T 2 HEEN R E
mode and for handling incidents in respect o AN REEINERK
of injuries or death caused by accidents, BTRREFTANBERS
and incapacity or death incurred by Bk TIERE hbT /)
prescribed occupational diseases. ERLa

Mechanism is in place for handling claims AREBEREHHFZIER
in respect of personal injuries and aforesaid AFEER 4 TRE
labour compensation. IRHBEAR ©
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4.2.14 Statistics of the Group’s Employees

For the Reporting Period, the monthly
average number of employees was 685,
amongst which 30 employees were
directly employed on full-time basis and
the remaining were casual workers. In the
Year, the overall monthly average employee

turnover rate was 1.00%.

4214 B EEES 895

RAREE - 5 AFH
EEABAGSSA » HEF30
ZAEEAEBEES

HEE - mEKA ABBRE
T -RAFE  BESA
FHRERARAE1.00% °

Number of
employees?
EE A
Gender % 5
Male 603
S
Female 82
g
Employee Category 1€ & 38 5
Senior management 7
=RERE
Middle management 7
hRERE
Supervisor 9
FE
General staff 662
—RET
Age Group F##E 3|
18-24 years old 13
1824738
25-34 years old 112
25F345%
35-44 years old 134
355445,
45-54 years old 168
45FE545%
55-64 years old 204
552 645%
65 years old or above 54
655K IA
Geographical Region i1 &
Hong Kong 680
B
Mainland China 5
R A3,
Employment Type {EfE & H
Full-time employee* 30
THRES:
Casual worker 655
Fafs T
The figures were the monthly average numbers of employees who 3 BHASFTARAREMBMAGEYEE AHOEE S

were paid in each specific month during the Reporting Period.

the Reporting Period.
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Number of  Monthly Average

only counted on those directly employed full-time employees who
were paid with fixed monthly salaries, regarding the complexity in
identification of employment status for those casual workers who
were daily paid, and worked on ad hoc basis whenever there were job
opportunities for them.

o Monthly average employee turnover rate was calculated with the ¢

formula of dividing the number of employee turnover in the Year
by the monthly average number of full-time employees in Hong
Kong in relevant categories and then converting to monthly average
percentage.

Employees Employee
Turnover® Turnover Rate®
BATHES
EBEREANES K s
Gender 1 5l
Male 2 0.93%
Eehia
Female 1 1.19%
2%
Employee Category {E 23Rl
Senior management 0 0.00%
mREERE
Middle management 2 2.78%
FREREE
Supervisor 0 0.00%
*E
General staff 1 1.39%
—MET
Age Group F 48 5l
18-24 years old 0 0.00%
18%245%
25-34 years old 1 1.04%
25F345%
35-44 years old 0 0.00%
35F445%
45-54 years old 0 0.00%
45F 5455
55-64 years old 1 0.93%
55F645%
65 years old or above 1 2.78%
655 A £
Geographical Region it &
Hong Kong 3 1.00%
BE
Mainland China 0 0.00%
R A
2 The turnover figures (i.e. number of employees leaving the Group) 5 EEIHRZEYHMAFWAELIE TIERER’S

G ARG T TR ERE TR AR 2 R
B RERABF(AIAEERRES AB)E
HUBEAFERERNZRES -

BAFHRERERRRDVERAFEEREREABR
NHRBERRNNEEEATH2BESAR B8
BASATHANLEHE -
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4.2.2 Health and Safety

Pursuant to the relevant regulations such as “The
Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance”,
“Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance”’,
the Group is committed to providing a healthy
and safe working environment for employees
in the projects undertaken by our scope of
responsibility.

The Group has implemented workplace safety
documentation which includes detailed guidance
on general site conditions, potential hazards
and site requirements, construction staff’s
safety responsibilities, safety precautions and
emergency response measures and reporting of
safety incidents.

Over the past years, the Group has been awarded
by various construction stakeholders for the
safety performance during the implementation of
relevant projects.
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4221 Supervision by Safety Management Personnel 4221 AZ T EBANBETTEE

Through internal establishment or

AEBERBANBRILE R

coordination with main contractor of ABKHEHBE IEH HY 48 7
the responsible projects, the Group is EEthd BELEER

accountable for the arrangement of safety
management personnel responsible
for site safety inspection, day-to-day
communication and monitoring of
workplace safety at construction sites.

The designated safety management
personnel are in place to supervise the
safety of the construction site and to
provide safety training to employees. The
Group will proceed in accordance with the
opinion of safety management personnel
and establish the relevant measures in
response to various safety risks in the
workplace.

Whenever an accident has occurred at
the construction site (e.g. an employee
sustaining an injury at work), the designated

AEERNEEMBETT
WRLZEHRE  HEER

2 EEER
RIGREER -

AEERBEELREER
AB - HEEMENLE
ETEERAERRHR

25 - ARERBRAER
2EEAENER @ &Y
THENEBRR2RERG E

HERRFE I -

0

il

—

}?

EREMBEEZTINGIDN
BERTREG)  BEL:E
EIEAB BN RAEE

safety management personnel will EEENAEEREAIE
immediately report the safety incident to BRRERmERZLES
the Group’s management as well as main o
contractor of the project engaged by the
Group.
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4222 Workplace Safety Management

On the construction sites, the Group
collaborates with main contractor to
identify jobs at high risk. In accordance
with the opinions of designated safety
management personnel, control measures
are established in response to different
occupational safety risks. Unless otherwise
specified in the project implementation,
main contractors are obliged to provide
all necessary safety equipment to those
employees being appointed by the Group.

Emergency drill are regularly scheduled in
the construction sites to ensure employee
awareness in response to emergency.

For office safety, the Group also undertakes
the appropriate safety management
measures, which include placing of first aid
kits stocked with emergency medicines,
assurance of fire-fighting supplies in place,
posting of fire evacuation route plans,
as well as participation in any fire drill
organized by responsible party.
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4.22.3 Management Measures against COVID-19

Pandemic

Unless there is a confirmed infection case
of COVID-19 among the construction
workers in the project sites or the Hong
Kong government has imposed suspension
of construction work against the impacts
from COVID-19, the main contractors of the
Group's project generally will not consider
suspending or postponing the works in
project sites due to the potential liquidated
damages for late completion, and therefore
the Group has undertaken the following
precautions against COVID-19 at the project
sites:

circulate the guidelines on health
precautions against COVID-19
(including wearing of mask,
measuring body temperature before
entry to the project site, etc.) issued
by the relevant main contractors and
the Construction Industry Council to
our workers and the workers of our
subcontractors;

require our workers and the workers
of our subcontractors to wear masks
in project sites;

report travel history of our staff and
their family members residing with
them to project manager;
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require the relevant staff and/or their
family members who have travelled
to the PRC to work from home for 14
days upon their arrival;

suggest our workers and the workers
of our subcontractors to consult
a doctor promptly and undergo
quarantine for 14 days if they have a
fever or other symptoms;

keep close communication with main
contractors of the Group’s projects
when any workers in project site
confirmed positive for COVID-19.

4224 Safety Performance

There was no employee record of work-
related fatality in this Reporting Period.
During the Reporting Period, the Group
did not identify any legal non-compliance
related to occupational health and safety
regulations of the local operating region.
Within the same period, the number of lost
workdays caused by work-related injury was
5,284, attributed by a total of 27 incidents.
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4.2.3 Development and Training 4.2.3 BRRIZ

The Group has maintained experienced project
management team and each of our project
managers has near 20 years of experience in the
construction industry. They play an important
role in leading the team and guide the workers
towards successful completion of projects. We
will establish training plan for arranging different
types of training to employees. For on-job
training, we will arrange experienced employees
to lead the junior staff for development of their
job skills and completion of jobs properly.

Training arrangement will vary in accordance with
different functions and projects. The scope of on-
job trainings will generally include the following
topics:

Special construction requirements in the
Group's responsible project

ii. Safety measures in the construction sites

ii.  Environmental protection measures of the
Group/main contractor/property developer

Whenever appropriate, resources will be allocated
to support employees’ training to raise their
technical competence, and the Group will
support employees to participate in the relevant
development programmes from the Hong Kong
Institute of Construction which are accredited by
the Qualifications Framework.

423.1 Safety Training at Construction Sites

In the construction sites, main contractors
of the Group’s responsible projects
generally will provide safety training for
participation by the Group’s employees.
In event of the Group being the main
contractor, safety training will be provided
to the site workers in accordance with the
requirements stipulated by the developer.
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4232 Training Performance of Employees

For those trainings provided by main
contractors or subcontractors to our site
workers, those records of site training (e.g.
safety) to our site workers were maintained
by main contractors or our subcontractors,
therefore such training records were
maintained out of the Group’s operation
sites covered by this Report.

On the other hand, for those trainings
directly provided by the Group, which was
only on the anti-corruption topics to our
directors in the Board and management
staff in our headquarters at Hong Kong.
During the Reporting Period, there was a
total of 9 trained employees who attended
18 hours of training.

4232 BB 153K E

AAEARZARDBEEARMMNBET
AREOIFIME - WRFIABET
ARG E) I R IF I (Fl R 25 )
LB RAEARER D ERFE
it BRTBIIRE IR ARERER
REBEEMBRUINIFTFE o

B—AH RASEEZREENE
T BEBIEERKRMESTSH
EERBBRINEREABNRES
FRE o RAREERE - AHBIBX
EEZXIT 18/ NFEEEH -

Average
Number of Proportion
Trained of Trained
Employees employees (%)’
FHE
ZIEEAR 1& & Lt Bl (%)”
Gender 4 5
Male 7 33.33%
Eehid
Female 2 22.22%
it
Employee category {& £ 3 3|
Senior management 8 100.00%
mREERE
Middle management 1 14.3%
HREERE
Supervisor 0 0.00%
FE
General staff 0 0.00%
—RET
Total #25t:9 Overall #88:30.00%
z This calculation is based on the monthly average number of directors 7 BN EEERESCESE N EAEMBNREES

in the Board and full-time employees in the Hong Kong headquarters
office (excluding those casual workers at project sites).
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Number of
Training Hours
attended

22 REIRH

Average
Training
Hours per
Employee®
BUESTH
2 AIRE g

Gender 4 3l

Male
Esfis
Female

7t

Employee category {& 2 3 B

Senior management
mRERE

Middle management
hREEE
Supervisor

TE

General staff
—RET

66

30

94

3.33

11.75

0.29

0.00

0.00

Total #5t: 96

Overall ¥8:3.2

4.2.4 Labour Standards

Based on the recruitment system and principle,

the Group does not allow the occurrence of

child labour or forced labour and has established

the relevant preventive procedures. In event
of any non-compliance identified, the Group
will adopt the necessary steps to eliminate the
non-compliance in accordance with laws and
regulations of the operating regions.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not
identify any case of child labour employment or
legal non-compliance of regulations related to
forced labour.

This calculation is based on the monthly average number of directors

in the Board and full-time employees in the Hong Kong headquarters

office (excluding those casual workers at project sites).
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4.24.1 Prohibition of Child Labour

Based on job nature of construction
industry in which the Group is running
business, the Group generally recruits
employees of 18 years old or above
for safety concern with the site works,
regarding the potentially hazardous
working conditions in the construction
sites.

In addition, during recruitment interviews,
the Group collects the personal information
of all job applicants (including intern
candidates): identity cards, academic
certificates or testimonials of employment,
for verifying the authenticity of their
submitted age information and hence
prevention of employing applicants
under the legal working age. Alternatively,
whenever labour subcontractor is
appointed, the Group requests the
subcontractor of implementing the same
approach as aforesaid, for assuring the job
applicants meeting the legal minimum age.

4.24.2 Prohibition of Forced Labour

The policies of the Group prohibit all
forms of forced labour, including request
for deposit or collateral upon recruitment
of employees, withholding of identity
documents, withholding of wages, forcing
employees to work overtime, bonded
labour, and restricting personal freedom
through threats of violence or other
illegal means. Relevant policies ensure all
employees to work on voluntary basis. All
employees have the rights to resign within
the employment period in accordance
with the requirements as stipulated in the
employment contracts or local laws.
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4.2.5 Supply Chain Management 4.2.5 HEHEEE

The supply chain of the Group is mainly
comprised of material suppliers and
subcontractors. Our suppliers and subcontractors
mainly include:

(i) suppliers of timber, plywood, aluminium
and steel mould, scaffolding equipment
and other equipment; and

(i) subcontractors such as carpenters and
metal formwork erectors, who carry out the
implementation of our formwork and other
construction services.

We have maintained a list of approved suppliers
and subcontractors who are evaluated and
approved by us, for assuring that the quality
of their supplies and services is of acceptable
standard.

4.25.1 Selection of Material Suppliers

The Group will conduct initial assessment
before adding any new supplier to
our approved list of suppliers and
subcontractors. We will proceed annual
performance evaluation of the suppliers on
the approved list to ensure the quality of
goods are maintaining at acceptable level.
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Unless specific appointment by the main
contractors and/or property developers, the
Group will conduct assessment of material
suppliers in accordance with the following
selection criteria:

Quality and conditions of goods
received

ii. On-time delivery

iii.  Adherence to pre-defined procedures
and instructions

iv.  Quality and timeliness of service

V. Reputation ad past reliability record
vi.  Technical capability

vii.  Environmental-friendly characteristics
It is common for our staff to visit the
factory or workshop of our suppliers for
inspecting the design and specifications of
the ordered materials or products, before

arranging transportation of materials to the
construction sites.

4252 Selection of Service Subcontractors

The Group will generally only engage
subcontractors on our approved list of
subcontractors, considering the nature
and complexity of each project and the
availability of our resources at the time.
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The Group does not limit the engagement
to only the existing subcontractors on
our approved list. We will also consider
cooperation with new subcontractors so
as to expand our base of subcontractors
and maintain a stable source of labour for
project implementation.

Engaged subcontractors are generally
required to be registered under the
Voluntary Subcontractor Registration
Scheme (the "VSRS"). We select our
subcontractors based on a series of criteria,
including but not limited to:

Reputation

ii. Job arrangement, e.g. timely
completion, material utilization

iii. Competence of management
personnel, e.g. complaint rate,
adherence to site rules

iv.  Working performance in the past,
e.g. workmanship, technology
used, quality of services, safety
performance

V. Site cleanliness

From time to time, the Group will review
and update our internal approved list
of subcontractors according to their
performance evaluation. During project
implementation, our project managers
will regularly meet with the engaged
subcontractors and closely monitor their
work progress and performance.
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4253 Geographical Distribution of Suppliers

During the Reporting Period, there was a
total of 54 suppliers and subcontractors,
amongst which 51 of them were based in
Hong Kong and the remaining in Mainland
China.

In the same period, 4 new suppliers were
engaged and evaluated by the Group using
the aforesaid selection mechanism. Also, a
total of 12 existing suppliers, who provided
materials or services significant to the
quality of our formwork service, was also
evaluated for the continued suitability and
fulfilment of the requirements. Particularly
for 2 suppliers, they were even evaluated for
the capability of supplying environmental-
friendly materials.

4254 Management of Risks from Business Partners in

the Supply Chain

We are liable to our customers for the
performance of our subcontractors as well
as any potential employee’s compensation
claims and personal injuries claims made by
the employees of our subcontractors arising
from work injuries which may happen from
time to time.

Therefore, the Group will carry out regular
assessments of our subcontractors during a
project to ensure quality and safety of their
works. Our project managers and foremen
will conduct regular site visits to ensure
general compliance by our subcontractors
in all respects, particularly safety and
environmental requirements. Any details of
incident will be recorded and investigated
for subsequent proceedings.
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If the supplier or subcontractor is not
qualified in the periodic evaluation, the
Group shall review the impact from
those projects still delivered during the
valid period of partnership. If the impact
is significant, the partnership with that
specific supplier or subcontractor shall be
terminated in principle. If it is necessary
to continue the partnership under special
circumstances, the special reasons shall be
recorded in the evaluation files for future
reference and tracking.

Whenever appropriate, suppliers and
subcontractors in the supply chain will
also be evaluated on their operational
compliance and the other associated
risks, such as compliance in employment
of labour, anti-corruption and integrity
practices, as well as business continuity,
etc., these aspects are evaluated for
mitigation of social risks along the Group's
value chain.

4255 Mitigation of Environmental Risks in Supply

Chain

42551 Priority in Green Procurement

The Group prioritizes the use of
materials and services that do not
impose significant environmental
impacts, therefore, as mentioned in
the previous section, environmental-
friendly characteristics is one of the
selection criteria for assessment of
material suppliers, with the aim to
mitigate the environmental risks in
the supply chain.
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Also, as part of complying with
the environmental measures of
our customers, we are required to
source timber and plywood from
companies complying with the
requirements of an international
recognised certification system, such
as Programme for the Endorsement of
Forest Certification (PEFC) and Forest
Stewardship Council (FSC). PEFC and
FSC provide assurance that the timber
and plywood materials used in our
construction projects originate from
sustainably managed sources.

For mitigation of environmental risks,
we may also prioritize the purchase
of timber and plywood with some
examples of the following green
specifications:

The content of free
formaldehyde in adhesives
used in the product shall not
exceed 0.5 % by weight of the
adhesive.

Formaldehyde Emission: All

wood panels shall be of Class
1 under EN13986 in respect of

formaldehyde emission.

The product shall not contain
any heavy metals or their
compounds related to: Arsenic,
Cadmium, Copper, Lead,
Mercury.
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The following substances
shall not be added during
manufacturing: elemental
chlorine, fluorine, PCP and tar
oils containing benzo(a)pyrene.

The product shall have no flame
retardant of polybrominated
biphenyl (PBB), polybrominated
diphenyl ether (PBDE) or
short-chain chlorinated
paraffin added as formulated
components.

For further enhancement in our
green procurement practices, we
desire the requirements of wood or
wooden materials fulfilling one of the
following requirements:

40% of the wood material is
from recycled/waste wood; or

ii. The wood materials are
obtained from sustainable forest
management certification.

42552 Local Procurement

Moreover, the Group has formulated
regional procurement policy as
one of the green procurement
measures, which prioritizes the use
of local suppliers (both material
suppliers and service subcontractors
situated in Hong Kong) for reduction
of greenhouse gas emissions,
through reducing the distance
of transportation during the
procurement process. During the
Reporting Period, the proportion of
local suppliers engaged by the Group
reached 94%.
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4.2.6 Project Responsibility

When undertaking a formwork project, the
Group is generally responsible for project
planning and implementation, procurement
of materials, quality control and overall
management of our direct labour and workers
of our engaged subcontractors in carrying
out the implementation of formwork services
in accordance with the main contractors’
requirements and specifications.

The Group is committed to maintaining the
stability in project quality and timely completion,
as well as other faults which may exert negative
influence or delay the entire structure work of the
building construction projects.

Our Group has maintained insurance policies
which cover employees’ compensation for our
direct labour, personal accident, third party
liability, and public liability.

For the projects of formwork services undertaken
by the Group, the main contractors of the projects
are generally responsible for maintaining all
risks associated with their contractors, including
employees’ compensation and third party
insurance policies which generally cover liabilities
or claims in respect of (i) personal injury or death;
and (ii) damage to third party’s properties, as a
result of the performance of work undertaken by
the workers of the Group or our subcontractors.
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4.26.1 Compliance Measures 4261 GBI

Throughout the operation processes
that involve project planning and
implementation, relevant personnel of the
Group abide by the local regulations and
industry codes and standards for ensuring
compliance with legal requirements,
covering but not limited to:

Prevention of having illegal workers
who are not lawfully employable
on site (pursuant to Section 38A of
the Immigration Ordinance of Hong
Kong);

Registration of the relevant workers
before carrying out construction
work on a construction site (pursuant
to The Construction Workers
Registration Ordinance of Hong
Kong).

During the Reporting Period, the Group
was not subject to any significant penalties
by the regulatory authorities or industry
associations as a result of non-compliance
with any laws or regulations.
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4262 Project Implementation and Quality Control

Each of our formwork projects has a
project management team comprising of
a project manager and safety supervisor,
who is responsible for monitoring the
progress, quality, and safety of the project
implementation.

The Group generally requires our suppliers
to deliver the materials and equipment
to the construction sites directly, and our
workers are responsible for verifying and
examining the equipment and materials
received.

The project management team in each
project of the Group, generally conducts
regular on-site inspections and attends
regular meetings with our customers and
subcontractors to address key issues like
quality topics, to ensure sufficient resources
are allocated for each project, and that the
works executed at each of the following
stages fulfills the requirements of our
customers.

Stage one: Receipt of formwork materials
on site

After the formwork materials are delivered
to the construction sites, and we will
unload, verify, and examine their quantity
and basic quality to ensure that all items are
properly received.

Stage two: Construction surveying

Based on the drawings provided by the
engineers and architects, construction
surveying will be conducted on site.
Construction surveying involves staking
out lines and reference points that will
guide the construction of the formworks,
and to ensure that such formworks are
fixed in position in accordance with the
construction drawings.
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Stage three: Formwork erection

Formwork is set up and positioned into
formwork panels of designated size and
shape according to the setting outlines.
The formwork panels are then erected
in place to form the mould for the walls,
columns, beams, and slabs. After erecting
the formwork, the vertical and horizontal
alignments are checked with limited
tolerance to ensure that the formwork
erected will not deviate from the original
design.

Stage four: Concrete pouring

Steel bar reinforcement will then be fixed
in accordance with the requirements in the
construction drawings and specification by
the steel fixing subcontractor. The Group
will then inspect the formwork again
to ensure that the formwork panels are
properly connected after such steel fixing.
Concrete is then poured with the aid of
appropriate equipment after checking that
the condition of formwork is firm enough
to withstand the concreting process.
(generally, concreting process is performed
by other concreting subcontractors
engaged by the main contractor instead of
the Group's formwork workers).

Stage five: Striking of the formwork

The process of removing the formwork,
termed “striking”, will commence after
the concrete has hardened and gained
the required strength. Formwork panels
suitable for reuse will be lifted to the upper
floor of the same project for future erection.
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4263 Assurance of Variation Orders

During project implementation, the
customer of the Group may place orders
concerning variation to part of the works
under the original contract. Such variation
orders may include addition, omission,
substitution, modification, alteration
of works and changes in dimension,
specifications, or time schedule of works.

In general, quantity surveyors of the Group
will, based on the variation of construction
works required to be conducted, prepare
and submit quotation for such variation
order with detailed assessment to our
customer for approval.

4264 Defect Liability Period

Owing to the nature of construction
industry, instead of running a product recall
mechanism, the Group may be required by
our customers to provide a defects liability
period during which we remain responsible
for rectifying any defects or imperfections
in relation to the works performed by the
Group. During this period, the Group is
responsible for rectifying those defects
identified and requested by our customers.

The Group provides a defects liability period
typically ranging from 6 to 24 months from
the date of practical completion, subject to
the requirements of different projects.

Under the same contractual requirement,
the subcontractors engaged by the Group
will be held responsible to rectify the
defects identified by our customer during
such period.
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426.5 Handling of Customer Complaints 4265 B E PR

The Group has established an effective
system for handling complaints and
disputes, which has dedicated personnel
to handle complaints and disputes
from customers and effective complaint
handling process for responding all
kinds of complaints in a timely manner.
Complaint case will go through cause
analysis to identify the system loopholes
which incur the occurrence of complaints.
Relevant corrective action plans will then
be developed to rectify and prevent the
recurrence of the similar complaints or
disputes.

During the Reporting Period, the Group
did not identify any significant legal non-
compliance or customer complaint related
to project responsibility.

4266 Protection of Customer Information and

Intellectual Property

The Group may collect information
from customers and main contractors
in accordance with the requirements
stipulated by the regulatory authorities
and/or other industry associations, which
clearly list out the purpose of personal data
collection and the related users, as well
as the ways in managing and using such
customer information in strict compliance
with the prescribed purposes.

For protection of customers’ confidential
information, all information and
documentation related to intellectual
property of customers (e.g. technical
specifications, drawings, and other
confidential documents) must be
secured and managed by the designated
department. Only authorized personnel can
access the relevant customer information.
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During the Reporting Period, there was no
material legal proceeding, claim, dispute,
arbitration, or administrative proceeding
pending or threatening against the
Group in relation to infringement of any
intellectual property rights.

4.2.7 Anti-corruption

4.2.7.1 Corporate Governance

The Group has established comprehensive
policies on corporate governance with
reference to the statutory and regulatory
requirements.

When necessary, we will engage external
professionals, including auditors, internal
control consultants, external legal adviser(s)
and other professionals to render advice
with respect to our compliance with
statutory and regulatory requirements, as
applicable to the Group from time to time.

Also, we adopt appropriate corporate
governance measures to monitor the
compliance of the terms and regulations
related to non-competition. Any new
business opportunities relating to non-
competition and all other matters
determined by our Board as having a
potential conflict of interest with our
controlling shareholders will be referred to
our independent non-executive directors
for discussion and decision.
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4272 Code of Conduct for Employees 4272 1B 2778 FA

The Group has established code of conduct
in the staff handbook and the code
requirements mainly cover the topics of
business ethics, including the prohibition
of acceptance of gifts and other improper
benefits. Unless compliance with the
relevant laws and granted by the Board
of Directors, employees are forbidden to
request for or accept from the Group's
business partners any commission, rebate,
monetary reward, loan, gift, or other benefits.

42.7.3 Declaration for Conflicts of Interest

The Group requires employees to declare
any incident for existing or potential
conflicts of interest among personnel
or positions, which incur the relevant
employee suspected or not capable of
carrying out the designated tasks in a fair
and impartial manner. A specific channel
has been developed by the Group for
the staff to proceed declaration to Chief
Operating Officer or Directors via direct
supervisor of declaring staff.

4.2.74 Whistleblowing Policy

The Group has set up whistle-blowing
mechanism for our employees at all level to
report the incident. Also, we have elaborated
the policies to employees who are informed
of the procedure for reporting incident
related to fraud, corruption, and other
unlawful act or misconduct, etc. In event
of employee suspecting or identifying any
incident, he or she can report by email to the
Company Secretary who will proceed the
investigation and subsequent handling in a
confidential manner.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did
not identify any legal non-compliance or
complaint related to corruption.
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4275 Training on Topics related to Anti-corruption

For assuring employees at all levels fully
aware of the Group's policies related to
anti-corruption, the Group has arranged
for our directors and management staff to
attend trainings on the applicable laws and
regulations. The relevant training figures
were already listed out in the section
"4.2.3.2 Training Performance of Employees”
of this Report, which listed out 6 directors
trained on 90 hours and 3 management
staffs trained on 6 hours.

Whenever applicable, the Group will
continue to arrange annual training
programs to be provided by legal advisers
in Hong Kong or any appropriate accredited
institution to update our directors, senior
management and relevant employees on
the relevant laws and regulations.

For compliance topics, we plan to provide
trainings to employees of managerial level
on an annual basis and ad hoc trainings to
all relevant employees whenever there is
need of raising employees’ awareness and
responsibilities on the relevant topics.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE g kERRE

4.2.8 Community Contribution 4.2.8 ¥ EHEf

The Group deems corporate social responsibility
being one of the key elements in fulfilment of
our values to the society, and therefore we are
seeking opportunities for collaboration with
different stakeholders to support activities
beneficial to the community and people in need.
With the goal to bring hope and support to the
needy people in community, our target scope
of community contribution may cover a wide
range of aspects like poverty alleviation, caring
visit, education sponsoring and other support to
charity activities.

In early 2020, the Group has contributed donation
of HKD1 million to The Community Chest of
Hong Kong for charity funding, as well as caring
donation of HKD200,000 to the construction
sector for anti-epidemic purpose.

During the Reporting Period, the Group
continued the commitment with some examples
like donation of HKD100,000 to Construction
Industry Council for sponsoring the anti-epidemic
activities in construction sector, as well as
HKD30,000 to the Hong Kong Blind Orchestra of
Post Crisis Counseling Network (PCCN), which
was the first charitable organization in Hong
Kong to respond to mental health needs in
emergency settings. The aforesaid contribution
demonstrated the Group upholding the business
philosophy of integrating social responsibility
and whenever appropriate collaborates with
community organizations to give back to society.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR T

_
pwec

To the Shareholders of Chi Kan Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Chi Kan Holdings Limited
(the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
111 to 187, which comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2021;

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F, Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR iE a

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to revenue
recognition for provision of construction works and recognition of
contract assets.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR T

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
HRETEE

BRETEE )

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENNEERRETSE

Revenue recognition for provision of construction works
and recognition of contract assets

Refer to Notes 2.18, 4, 6 and 14(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2021
recognised from provision of construction works amounted
to approximately HK$826,198,000 and the Group's contract
assets as arisen from the provision of construction works
amounted to approximately HK$212,049,000 as at 31 March
2021.

, the Group's revenue as

Revenue from provision of construction works is recognised
over time by measuring the progress towards completion of
the Group’s performance obligations as set out in respective
contracts.

REBETENKRERARSNEENER
2SS HMRMFE2.18 ~ 4~ 6214(b)
BE_Z-_—F=A=1+—HULHFE "

RETIEMIN R L) 5826,198,00078 7T

BRHEBEIRAEAZANEEN T ——
=+—H#)/A212,049,0007 7T °

BREZETIREZNEZER BEEEERS
JB K 2 BE RS IR ©

IR R E R

We performed the following procedures to address the key
audit matter:

Understood management’s internal control on the
revenue recognition for provision of construction
works and recognition of contract assets and
assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and other inherent risk factors;

Evaluated the outcome of the prior period
assessment on the estimated value of the
construction works completed to date for different
projects (primarily focus on those construction
works as completed but not yet certified by external
independent parties) to assess the effectiveness of
management’s estimation process by comparing
with the actual value as subsequently certified by
external independent parties or the actual amounts
as subsequently settled by customers;
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR iE a

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
HEETEE

BRETEE )

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENMEEBRREETSER

The Group has used the output method to estimate the
progress of each performance obligation satisfied over time
by reference to the value of construction works completed
to date (as certified by external architects, surveyors or other
representatives as appointed by customers (collectively the
"external independent parties”) or evaluated by the Group’s
internal technicians if such certifications from external
independent parties are not available) as a proportion of the
total contract value of the relevant construction contracts.

Contract assets arise when the Group has completed certain
construction works which are yet to be certified by external
independent parties and/or the Group's right to payment is
still conditional on factors other than passage of time.

EEBERABLAABERTKBOEENER
BEH2RESE TN EE TR EE (BN REERD - Bl
B FP R EMAR (R (MBI ) RE -
SR EAERINEBL TN ERER - B EKER
R A BRHE) (A RBERES OB OEELD -

BHEER BESXECERNETERIERFIGEE
MARER K B R E AR R IEUR R B R AT A

SN ERFESE ©

Evaluated and tested, on a sample basis, the key
controls over the revenue recognition from provision
of construction works and recognition of contract
assets;

Reviewed the key terms and conditions of material
construction contracts on a sample basis;

Checked, on a sample basis, the value of the certified
construction works completed to date for different
projects as used in determining the amounts of
revenue recognised for certified construction works
against the amounts as set out in the underlying
supporting certificates issued by the external
independent parties;
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Independent Auditor’s Report
TN B R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
HRESEH

BRETEE )

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EEMMEEFERENER

The determination of the estimated value of the
construction works completed to date for different projects
involved significant management’s judgement and
estimates which may have significant impact on the amount
and timing of revenue recognised.

We focused on this area because the magnitude of revenue
as recognised from provision of construction works and the
contract assets as at the end of reporting period is significant
and determining the value of the construction works
completed to date for the purpose of recognising revenue
from provision of construction works over time involved
significant management’s judgement and estimates.

BETRBEBLSEERMEETENGEFEEIRE
B E M EARHE R AEE - AT SRR S M S B MR
EXEATE -

BFEELETENRRENEERSE BRERERMEZ
ETRIKEHNEENRESHERN  MEEELSRIE
EEANERTRENEENERRERBREZETRE
e K B TR B B BB K HI i R A AT o

Assessed management’s estimates on the value of
uncertified construction works completed to date
for different projects by inspecting the relevant
underlying supporting documents (e.g. evaluation
reports as prepared by the Group’s internal
technicians, payment applications to customers etc.)
on a sample basis; and

Discussed with management and project managers
to understand the extent of completion of the
construction works of different projects in progress.

Based on the procedures performed, we found that the
judgements and estimates adopted by management in the
revenue recognition for provision of construction works and
recognition of contract assets were supportable by available
evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR Ty

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
TN B R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR iE a

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is KONG Ling Yin, Raymond.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 25 June 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
EXaeal Gy

Year ended 31 March

BZE3A3ALEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
PEE FHET FHIT
Revenue WS 6 826,198 685,853
Cost of revenue ek AR 7 (765,502) (612,764)
Gross profit EF 60,696 73,089
Other income H MU A 6 15,713 50
Listing expenses N3 (9,104) (13,278)
Selling and administrative expenses HEMITHAX 7 (17,784) (9,506)
Operating profit B RR 49,521 50,355
Finance income BhE A 9 431 15
Finance costs B E R AR 9 (13) (39)
Finance income/(costs), net BEWA (AN )35 9 418 (24)
Profit before income tax BT BB AEF 49,939 50,331
Income tax expense Frig®if X 10 (7,201) (10,730)
Profit for the year FRREF 42,738 39,601
Attributable to: DU & 75 FEAG -
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZ Y =N 42,773 39,601
Non-controlling interest SRR E (35) =
42,738 39,601
Earnings per share attributableto ~ ERAQTEAA
owners of the Company for the year FE{LEREF]
(expressed in HKS cents per share) (A ERAEMWFIR)
Basic and diluted BEARREE 11 4.71 542
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

affemElaER

Year ended 31 March
BZE3A31HILLEE

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Profit for the year FREF 42,738 39,601
Other comprehensive income Hih2mEU s
Item that may be reclassified subsequently £ 1€ A] fEE #7748
to profit or loss ABiEwm A H
Exchange difference on translation of R E GINEFLIE H =58
foreign operations 1,117 =
Total comprehensive income FREERRHEE
for the year 43,855 39,601
Total comprehensive income & FENL
attributable to: EEUWEEEE
Owners of the Company FiN/NEIE Y =N 43,887 39,601
Non-controlling interest AR = (32) -
43,855 39,601

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B FF IR

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes HKS$'000 HK$'000
Lik: FET FHIT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FEREBEE
Property and equipment VY EYNE L 12 1,183 2,021
Deposits TR 15 77 77
1,260 2,098
Current assets REEE
Trade receivables B S e IE 14(a) 37,634 28,416
Contract assets BREE 14(b) 212,049 184,805
Prepayments, deposits and other ENRIE - EZek
receivables H b e I8 15 2,477 3,709
Tax recoverable GIRLEIESE 3,522 =
Restricted cash ZREIRE 16(b) 17,500 =
Cash and cash equivalents RERBFESEEY 16(a) 196,797 33,310
469,979 250,240
Total assets EEHE 471,239 252,338
EQUITY s
Share capital A% A 20 10,000 =
Share premium DR (E 20 120,421 11,000
Reserves e 225,555 181,668
Capital and reserves attributable to ViN/NEIE7Z =N
owners of the Company JEIRE A K G 355,976 192,668
Non-controlling interest SRR R 24 3,034 =
Total equity REREEH 359,010 192,668
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B HFF IR

As at 31 March

MA3A31H
2021 2020
20215 20204
Notes HKS$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FET
LIABILITIES =L
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Accruals and other payables JEET B M EAM
JE At 3R IE 18 = 217
Lease liabilities HEaRF 19 131 675
131 892
Current liabilities REBaE
Trade payables B S ENFIE 17 71,162 38,052
Accruals and other payables JEETBR M EAM
JETFRIA 18 30,371 16,527
Bank borrowings RITER 25 10,000 =
Lease liabilities HEAE 19 545 540
Current income tax liabilities BNEAFT SR B fE 20 3,659
112,098 58,778
Total liabilities BEHEE 112,229 59,670
Total equity and liabilities ERRABEREE 471,239 252,338
@ Less than HK$1,000 * 1,000 7T

The consolidated financial statements on pages 111 to 187 were  HMNE 111 E187B 2 &M BEHRERE N 2021F6 A
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 June 2021 and  25HEZESH AT  WHUTEERAREE -
were signed on its behalf.

Lo Hon Kwong Chan May Kiu
Director Director
EFE EE

o

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be  F7l| 2 & GtEATEAR L R FE BB 71 — HF B a8
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

RSB

Attributable to owners of the Company

KDTREARL
Non-
Share Share Capital  Exchange Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve earnings Total interest Equity

ke RARE 4Bk ENRE  RERA B FBRER  ER4E

HKS'000 HK'000 HK$'000 HK'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK'000 HKS000

TAL Fhn T Fhn T Thn Tin TAL
(Note 20) (Note 20) (Note d)
(M) (Bo) (W3ka)

Asat 1 April 2020 #2020E451R = 11,000 - - 11668 192668 - 192668
Profitfor the year Emgi - - - - 01 0 (35) 4,738
Other comprehensive income Hip2ERA - - - 1114 - 1114 3 117
Total comprehensive income for theyear 2 EUZEE - - - 1114 nm 43,887 (32) 43,855

Transactions with owners in their capacity ~ EEAANEREAS(R

a5 OWNes; B2
Capitalisation Issue (Note 20) BALE(H3k0) 7,500 (7,500) - - - - - -
lssuance of ordinary shares uponlisting. £ BT ERR(H0)

(Note 20) 2,500 127,500 - - - 130,000 - 130,000
Listing expenses charged to share premium ~ FIRIFE BB E AR - (10,579) - - - (10,579) - (10,579)
Contribution from non-controlling MT*“TZ?H

shareholder of a subsidiary kg - - - - - - 2907 2907
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 24 L&A () - - - - - - 159 159

10,000 109421 - - - 119421 3,066 122,481
As at 31 March 2021 R02153831R 10,000 120421 - 1,114 224,441 355,976 3,034 359,010
As at 1 April 2019 R20194F1A o = 300 = 185,228 185,528 - 185,528
Profitor the year ERiaf] - - - - 39601 39601 - 39601
Distribution to Controlling Shareholder RERREEL 2R - - (300) - - (300) - (300)
Issuance of ordinary shares of the Company ~ #{TARFIERR B 11,000 - - - 11,000 - 11,000
Dividend (Note 21 R& (i) - - - - (#3,161) @/16) - (#3,161)
Asat 31 March 2020 HanE3A31A S m - s 19688 - 19
2 Less than HK$1,000 * 81,0007 7T

o

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be %I 7 & Of 8 %5 8 B 7 i Bt s — 0f 398
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

/_\J\:FEE\//}IL 2%

Year ended 31 March
HZE3A31BLEE

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BaE FET FHET
Cash flows from operating activities E&FZEHHRLHRE
Cash generated from operations EIEASIR G 26(a) 58,791 68,084
Income tax paid BAATSH (14,362) (15,683)
Net cash generated from operating & EEBMEREEE
activities 44,429 52,401
Cash flows from investing activities REFEHEEHRE
Payments for property and equipment Bt 2 M a& B 3K (14) (703)
Placement of restricted cash BFEAZRHIIRE (17,500) -
Interest received EFE 431 15
Net cash used in investing activities REEEFMARES FE (17,083) (688)
Cash flows from financing activities REFZEHREHRE
Listing expenses paid Bt EmAX (7,712) (2,867)
Advances from a director —REBANFIE 26(c) - 2,844
Payment to a director Al— %%%ﬁm 26(c) - (43,161)
Repayment to related companies BB A R 26(c) - (10,301)
Payments of lease liabilities — principal THE&&E ﬁm &
element S 26(c (539) (641)
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITHE /TAZF)T?%#\ 26(c 10,000 =
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary EmBBETAR
shares of the Company upon listing %ZFM%%(IE 130,000 -
Proceeds from share subscription of REARQNB]EER
ordinary shares of the Company FiS50A - 10,000
Proceeds from issuance of NGRS e
ordinary shares of the Company Fr1S 5008 = =
Proceeds from equity contribution from JE¥ZE Sz AT
non-controlling interest EEZ S RIA 24 2,907 =
Interest paid B A (13) (39)
Net cash generated from/(used in)  BAESEEIFTE(FiA)
financing activities HEFEE 134,643 (44,165)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents  IR& KIE&EEWEMN 161,989 7,548
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#IR 4 RIS ZEY
of the year 33,310 25,762
Effects of exchange rate changes Re MREEFEMH
on cash and cash equivalents fEReE v & 1,498 -
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FRIBEFIRNEGEEY
the year 16 196,797 33,310

& Less than HK$1,000

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

1

GENERAL INFORMATION AND
REORGANISATION

1.1 General information

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 16 April 2018 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law (Cap. 22, Law 3
of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The address of the Company’s registered office
is P.O. Box 1350, Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, Grand
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the provision of formwork
services and other construction services in Hong Kong
(the “Business”).

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 14 August 2020.

The consolidated financial statement are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HKS$") and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousands (HK$'000), unless otherwise
stated.

1.2 Reorganisation

Prior to the incorporation of the Company and the
completion of the reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”),
the Business was carried out by (i) Chi Kan Woodworks
Company Limited (the “Operating Company”); and
(ii) the formwork services business division of Chi
Kan Engineering Company Limited (the “Portion of
the Business Held by CK Engineering”). Mr. Lo Hon
Kwong (“Mr. Lo" or the “Controlling Shareholder”) is the
controlling party of the Operating Company and Chi
Kan Engineering Company Limited (“CK Engineering”).
Details of the Reorganisation are set out in the
prospectus of the Company dated 30 July 2020 (the
"Prospectus”).

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to
all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

—RERKEA

1.1

1.2

—REH

RAFR2018F4 16 B RIEHSH
EEFIERERNTE(1961FE3IHRE
Bl EEEREF EREHS M
R BEREEBRAFR - NAFRGE
il 4% =5 5% #b 1iE A P.O. Box 1350, Clifton
House, 75 Fort Street, Grand Cayman
KY1-1108, Cayman Islands °

ARABRELBAT - KA TR
B AR (47 [ AEE )T BRE
B TR ECBLAR IRAS B K A0 IR TS
(T%£H5)) -

RABRDFR2020F8 A14B EF BB
ERGIMBRAG([BRAT])ERLE
Fﬁ o

BrARBHAIN - KA G B |RERTIA
AIT(TET 25 - BEFrASREHBLY
EEREOZ THE(TET) -

B4

RARRQRFM R ELH(TEA )5
AT ¥ TANEHERERA
RI([EERR])  RNSEHITEER
NAMRIR RS EBH P ([ZH T2
BEMZERDD ET - BEEHXE
A(TELAE IS MHERE ) ASER
AREHIRAERAT([EHIRR])
IR - BREAFSHERARD
A B EA2020F7 A30B 2 KR ER
(% [BIRER]) -

EXRSTEERBME

M RED h iR Bk B A DE S R PR A A
EARGHER - RRBMEIN - LFEHRRE
RIFE2IFEERER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group
have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance Cap.622. The consolidated
financial statements has been prepared under the
historical cost convention.

The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRS requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group's accounting policies.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements,
are disclosed in Note 4 below.

a) Adoption of new and amended standards

The Group has adopted the following
amendments to standards for the current
accounting:

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

(Amendments)

HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business
(Amendments)

HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39 Interest Rate Benchmark

and HKFRS 7 Reform — Phase 1
(Amendments)
Conceptual Revised Conceptual

Framework for Financial
Reporting

Framework for
Financial Reporting
2018

The adoption of the above new and amended
standards did not result in substantial changes to
the accounting policies and financial statements
of the Group.

1 1 8 Chi Kan Holdings Limited & ##2 R AR AR Annual Report 2021 F3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BAEHHEME &)
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

b)

21 REEE(E)

New standards and amendments not yet b) AEE RIS ER R AE
adopted by the Group i

The following new accounting standards and T BB B e SR RIS ET
amendments which have been published and are NAREBEE2020F4 1B 248
mandatory for the Group's accounting periods 18 e AR Sk HARE e )

beginning after 1 April 2020 or later periods but ME 7S £ B 14 R IR LA A K

have not been early adopted by the Group:

Effective for annual
periods beginning

on or after
RUTESH 2%
HRzFERREN
HKFRS 16 (Amendment) COVID-19 - Related Rent Concessions 1 June 2020
éiﬁgﬁ%ﬁﬁ%}%&ﬁﬂ% 165% CoviD-19- R EER 202056718
ZHi
HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 1 April 2021
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16 (Amendments)
BB ERE305 - FIRBEEYE - FKE 20214818
BRMBEELR B4 -
BRTBRERANER -
BRMBEEENZEIR K
BERBRELNE 165 (BETA)
Annual Improvements Projects Annual Improvements 2018-2020 Cycle 1 April 2022
FEMERE 20185 220205 EHMEE BuE 20224818
HKFRS 3, HKAS 16 and HKAS 37 Narrow-scope amendments 1 April 2022
BB REERE 5 eSS 202F4A18

BRI ERF 165 1
BARGRHERE37R
Accounting Guideline 5 (Amendments)
EEEEEIESHACCHE)
HKAS 1 (Amendments)

BARGHENEIREITX)

HKFRS 17

BRMBREENE7R(BITA)

HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
(Amendments)

BERSHENE IR RBEYBRE
LR HBEIR(EITAK)

HK Interpretation 5 (2020)

BBREESR(2020F)

HKAS 8 (Amendments)

B G ENESR(BITX)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (Amendments)

BEMBREEAFE 105 R
EoERR e CHEN)

Merger Accounting for Common Control Combinations 1 April 2022

HEEH A GG ETRE 2022F4A18
Classification of Liabilities as Current or 1 April 2023
Non-current
REBEDBRRBDIIER 2023F4A1H
Insurance Contracts 1 April 2023
REREL 202354A1H
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 April 2023
SHBRNKE 202354A1H
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan 1 April 2023
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
ERAHBSREKEREFNERERHE 2023F4A1H
Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 April 2023
S EENTESE 202354A1H
Sale or Contribution of Assets between To be Determined

an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

REFRABRENTIAR X ANEENENIE ARHET
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

b)

New standards and amendments not yet
adopted by the Group (continued)

The Group is in the process of assessing potential
impact of the above new standards and
amendments that are relevant to the Group upon
initial application. According to the preliminary
assessment made by the directors of the
Company, management does not anticipate any
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial position and consolidated results
of operations upon adopting the above new
standards and amendments. Management plans
to adopt these new standards and amendments
to existing standards when they become
mandatory.

2.2 Subsidiaries

2.2.1 Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity where the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power to direct
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

1 20 Chi Kan Holdings Limited & ##2 R AR AR Annual Report 2021 F3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or
liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at
their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis. Non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are measured at either fair value or
the present ownership interests’ proportionate
share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at
their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

BEREFTHERE )

22 KMEARGE)

2.2.1 BGHRE (&)

BB

REEEARBEHEBEHA
fR - S BIB A REENRE
RTEREE  HRBHRAE
BAEENBBERARBAET
BENAFE - AEENRESR
BRRARELZBMELENEFE
EXBENDFE - EXBEH
o Ffr Wi B R R8I B B DA B P AR
MABELIAAE  RBEEAB
NTRERNFEFE -

AR ER R {1 Ui s B A RE SR A AR
KU B S RE FEER S - NI
BHRTEREGMAEEER AR
THEAENRE LR
DEEENEEFENIHTRE
@ BAVFESREMAEERD
BEPI D EREH R A BRI EE
FEMNDERAZENE - RELE
M HmEEANRERRA SR
ATEEES - FRIERESHAE
H AR B0 I E U B A I A
BFTE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BAEHHEME &)
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued) 22 MEBRARGE)

2.2.1 Consolidation (continued) 2.2.1 &6fRE (&)

Business combinations (continued)

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at
the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising
from such re-measurement are recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the Group is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the
fair value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised
in accordance with HKFRS 9 in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interests recognised
and previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the identifiable net assets of
the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PSRRI R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2

POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.2.1

2.2.2

Consolidation (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of financial
position respectively.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend
from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary
in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount
in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

BEREFTHERE )

22 KMEARE)

2.2.1 BHHRE (&)

XBEEGH (&)

SERRCHEHNRARIRERS - &
BERGRER W EE T IAY
Mo RIERFERHECDEREER
EMNEE - TRIRERBRITT
IA%TEH - B AR RRE
RNEDBERAE - UBERERSE
EERAMEE -

BB A B R R R B FE AR
EmopReaHarEkias &
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BEEEY -

2.2.2 BUBIERE

A Y A B B IR A A HIER R
EARK - RABEREEEEG
PR o AR B G B U K R UL AX
ERHBAREEAR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Segment reporting

24

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM"). The
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the executive directors who make
strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the consolidated financial
statements of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements is presented in
HKS, which is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates
are generally recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. Translation differences on assets
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as
part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets
such as equities classified as fair value through
other comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

25

(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

assets and liabilities are presented at the
closing rate at the date of that consolidated
statement of financial position

income and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions), and

all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment
in foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold, the associated exchange
differences are reclassified to consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, as part of
the gain or loss on sale.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment is stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

25

Property and equipment (continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part
is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance
are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated
using the straight line method to allocate their cost to
their residual values over its estimated useful lives, as
follows:

Leasehold improvement  20% or over the lease term,
whichever is shorter
Motor vehicles under hire 30% or over the lease term,
purchase arrangement
Furniture, fixtures and 20%
equipment

whichever is shorter

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2.6).

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5

2.6

2.7

Property and equipment (continued)

Right-of-use assets comprise properties and motor
vehicles are measured at cost comprising the following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability,

any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received, and

any initial direct costs.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Financial assets
(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets as
measured at amortised cost. The classification
depends on the entity’'s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when
and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Financial assets (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Recognition and derecognition

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within a time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place
(regular way trades) are recognised on the trade
date, i.e., the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the financial assets have expired
or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There is one
measurement category which the Group classifies
its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and
interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

2.9

Financial assets (continued)
(iv) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the
Group applies the simplified approach permitted
by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime
losses to be recognised from initial recognition
of the receivables or assets, see Note 3.1(b)(ii) for
further details.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal course
of business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If
not, they are presented as non-current assets.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

29

2.10

2.12

Trade and other receivables (continued)

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially
at the amount of consideration that is unconditional
unless they contain significant financing components,
when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds
the trade receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. See Note 3.1(b)(ii) for a description of
the Group's impairment policies.

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
include deposits held at call with banks, cash on hand
and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within
borrowing in current liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Cash that is restricted from withdrawal, from use or from
being pledged as security is reported separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position, and is not
included in the total cash and cash equivalents in the
consolidated statement of cash flows.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of
financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are
unsecured and are usually paid within the credit term.
Trade and other payables are presented as current
liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months
after the reporting period. They are recognised initially
at their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.13

2.14

Finance costs

Finance costs are recognised in consolidated statement
of comprehensive income in the period in which they
are incurred.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and
to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
Deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of
the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period
and are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.14

2.15

Current and deferred income tax (continued)
Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle
on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Employee benefits
(i)  Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating annual leave
that are expected to be settled wholly within
12 months after the end of the period in which
the employees render the related service are
recognised in respect of employees’ services up to
the end of the reporting period and are measured
at the amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented
as current employee benefit obligations in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Employee benefits (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Pension obligations

The Group participates in a pension scheme
under the rules and regulations of the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance ("MPF
Scheme”) for all employees in Hong Kong. The
contributions to the MPF Scheme are based on
minimum statutory contribution requirement
of 5% of eligible employees’ relevant aggregate
income up to a maximum of HKS1,500 per
employee per month. The assets of this pension
scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in independently administered funds.
Other than the contributions, the Group has no
further obligation for the payment of retirement
and other post-retirement benefits of its
employees in Hong Kong.

In addition, pursuant to the government
regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC"), the Group is required to contribute an
amount to certain retirement benefit schemes
based on approximately 20% to 23% of the
wages for the year of those employees in the
PRC. The local municipal government undertakes
to assume the retirement benefits obligations of
those employees of the Group. Contributions to
these retirement benefits schemes are charged
to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as incurred.

The Group’s contributions to the defined
contribution retirement schemes are expensed as
incurred.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses taking into consideration the profit
of the Group. The Group recognises a provision
where contractually obliged or where there is
a past practice that has created a constructive
obligation.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16

2.17

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions are
measured at the fair value of the goods or services
received, except where that fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured
at the fair value of the equity instrument granted. The
share-based payments is recognised as expenses in
accordance with HKFRS 2, “Share-based payment”
unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as
assets.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation and the amount can
be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period. The discount rate used to
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase
in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised
as interest expense.

1 34 Chi Kan Holdings Limited & ##2 R AR AR Annual Report 2021 F3

2

BEREFTHEBRE )

2.16

U3 R ER AR

ARz 5 H I AR B E B R A2
FREWEBE MR 2 FEE
B RWEEA EAFEmERE
BAF(E - ARAIR TR TAN
RFEFE - RIFERBAMRBTE
BERREE » SRR SERT
NRRBETEMEHRE LR FE25% [ A
By REROMN K R BFX

B

EAKEABESHAAERELR
SHEERME - METRERRAIES
2ERML  BEBESBERELAE
RS  SREREE - HMAEAR
AR 2 B IR TR (T (A B o

WERZBEEUEE  REFEER
MEABITEENEEBEBEMTR
RERETE - AMERFREEERER—
BHBEBRRENAGEETK - e
MR -

BRipmEEEHNREHRETRE
REMMEX L& EGOHRER
E-AREERENMEESRRE
BhmEHeEREEERABRER
i B RT il B A B A 3R o BE B TR A0 1T
I B EER AN B -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Revenue recognition

(a)

Recognition

The Group provides formwork services and
other construction services under contracts
with customers. Such contracts are entered into
before the services begin. Under the terms of the
contracts, the Group is contractually required to
perform the services at the customers’ specified
sites that the customers simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance as the Group performs.
Revenue from provision of formwork services
and other construction services is therefore
recognised over time for each individual contract
by using output method, i.e. on the basis of
measurement of the value of services transferred
to the customer to date. The measurement is
based on surveys of formwork services and other
construction services completed by the Group to
date as certified by architects, surveyors or other
representatives appointed by the customers
and adjusted by the estimated value of work
performed but which is yet to be certified at
each of the reporting date. The management of
the Group considers that output method would
faithfully depict the Group's performance towards
satisfaction of performance obligation under
HKFRS 15.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration
(variation order of construction work), the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it
will be entitled using the most likely amount.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2

POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Revenue recognition (continued)

(a)

Recognition (continued)

Variable consideration (continued)

The estimated amount of variable consideration
is included in the transaction price only to the
extent that is highly probable that such an
inclusion will not result in a significant revenue
reversal in the future when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When there is change in circumstances, the
Group updates the estimated transaction price
(including updating its assessment of whether an
estimate of variable consideration is constrained)
to better predict the circumstances present at the
end of the reporting period and the changes in
circumstances during the reporting period.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group
adjusts the promised amount of consideration
for the effects of the time value of money if the
timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or
implicitly) provides the customers or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of services to customer. In those circumstances,
the contract contains a significant financing
component. A significant financing component
may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or
implied by the payment terms agreed by the
parties of the contracts.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2

POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Revenue recognition (continued)

(a)

(b)

Recognition (continued)

Existence of significant financing component
(continued)

Notwithstanding the above, a contract does
not have a significant financing component in
circumstances where payments are in accordance
with the typical payment terms of the relevant
industry, which has a primary purpose other than
financing.

Warranty

For warranty embedded to the construction
contracts, the Group accounts for the warranty in
accordance with HKAS 37, “Provision, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets” as the warranty
provides the customer with assurance that the
contracting work complies with the agreed-upon
specifications.

Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its
construction contracts. The Group first assesses
whether these costs qualify for recognition as an
asset in terms of other relevant standards, failing
which it recognises an asset for these costs only if
they meet all of the following criteria:

(@)  the costs relate directly to a contract or to
an anticipated contract that the Group can
specifically identify;

(b)  the costs generate or enhance resources
of the Group that will be used in satisfying
(or in continuing to satisfy) performance
obligations in the future; and

(c)  the costs are expected to be recovered.
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BT RN

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Revenue recognition (continued)

(b)

(c)

Costs to fulfil a contract (continued)

The asset recognised is subsequently amortised
on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customer of the goods or services
to which the assets relate. The asset is subject to
impairment review.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

The Group does not receive any prepayment
from customers. The revenue recognised from a
construction project is commensurate with the
value of the works performed by the Group.

In accordance with the terms of the contracts
entered into with customers, the Group is
required to submit to customers monthly
payment applications for the value of work done
under the contracts along with any variation
orders performed. Customers will settle normally
in 30 days after certifying our monthly payment
applications based on their assessment of work
done by the Group. Customers usually retain an
amount up to 10% of the value of work done,
subject to a maximum limit of 5% of the total
contract sum as retention money for the contract.
The terms and conditions in relation to the release
of retention vary from contract to contract, which
is subject to practical completion, the expiry of
the defect liability period or a pre-agreed time
period which normally ranges from six to twenty-
four months after the completion date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Revenue recognition (continued)

(c)

Contract assets and contract liabilities
(continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right
to consideration from customers in exchange
for the provision of formwork services and
other construction services that the Group has
transferred to the customers that is not yet
unconditional. Contract assets arise when the
Group has provided the formwork services and
other construction services under the relevant
contracts but the works have yet to be certified
by architects, surveyors or other representatives
appointed by the customers and/or the Group'’s
right to payment is still conditional on factors
other than passage of time. Any amount
previously recognised as a contract asset is
reclassified to trade receivables at the point
when the Group's right to payment becomes
unconditional other than passage of time.

A contract liability represents the Group's
obligation to transfer the aforesaid services to
a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

2.19 Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises

from past events and whose existence will only be

confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one

or more uncertain future events not wholly within the

control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation

arising from past events that is not recognised because

it is not probable that outflow of economic resources

will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.
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PSRRI R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

BEREFTHEBRE )

2.20 Leases 220 HHE

The Group leases various properties for the use of office
and motor vehicles. Leases are typically made for fixed
periods of one to five years. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain various different
terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants, but leased assets may not be
used as security for borrowing purposes.

Property leases are recognised as right-of-use of
property included in property and equipment and
the corresponding liabilities at the date of which the
respective leased asset is available for use by the Group.
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability
and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Leases (continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable

variable lease payment that are based on an index
or arate

amounts expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees

the exercise price of a purchase option if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that
option, and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that
option.
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BT RN

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Leases (continued)

2.21

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be determined.
Otherwise, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate is
used.

Payments associated with short-term leases are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of less
than 12 months.

Extension options are included in a number of property
leases in the Group. These terms are used to maximise
operational flexibility in terms of managing contracts.
All extension options held are exercisable only by the
Group and not by the respective lessor. The Group
considers all facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive to exercise an extension option
in determining the lease term. Extension options are
included in lease term only if the Group, as lessee,
reasonably certain to exercise the extension option.
The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or
a significant change in circumstances occurs which
affects the assessment and within control of the Group
as lessee.

Earnings per share
(i)  Basicearnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

the profit attributable to owners of the
company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares

by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the
financial year, adjusted for bonus elements
in ordinary shares issued during the year
and excluding treasury shares.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21

2.22

2.23

2.24

Earnings per share (continued)
(ii)  Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures
used in the determination of basic earnings per
share to take into account:

the after-income tax effect of interest
and other financing costs associated with
dilutive potential ordinary shares, and

the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer
at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of
the reporting period but not distributed at the end of
the reporting period.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.

Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently
become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction
of the loss allowance).
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PSR P ot

3

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

This note explains the Group's exposure to financial
risks and how these risks could affect the Group's
future financial performance. Information from the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income has
been included where relevant to add further context.

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and
cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group's overall risk management procedures focus
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seek
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
financial performance.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong
and the PRC and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to
the HKS and Renminbi ("RMB”). Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions and recognised financial assets
and liabilities denominated in a currency
that is not the respective functional
currency of the subsidiaries.

As at 31 March 2021, if HKS had
strengthened/weakened by 5% against
RMB with all other variables held constant,
the post-tax profit for the year would
have been approximately HK$372,000
higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of
cash and cash equivalents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PSRRI R

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(if)

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from
bank balances, restricted cash and bank
borrowings at floating interest rates.

As at 31 March 202
bank balances, restricted cash and bank
borrowings had been 50 basis point higher/

1, if interest rate on

lower with all other variables held constant,
the post-tax profit for the year would have
been HK$1,005,000, mainly as a result of
higher/lower of net finance income.

(b) Creditrisk

(i)

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The
credit risk of the Group mainly arises from
contract assets, cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash, trade receivables and
deposits and other receivables. The carrying
amounts of these balances represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to these assets.
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BT RN

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Creditrisk (continued)

(i)

Risk management (continued)

In respect of cash deposited at banks
and restricted cash, the credit risk is
considered to be low as the counterparties
are reputable banks. The existing
counterparties do not have defaults in the
past. Therefore, expected credit loss rate of
cash at bank is assessed to be insignificant
as at 31 March 2021 (2020: same).

In order to minimise the credit risk,
management has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debt
at the end of the reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider
that the Group's credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The Group is exposed to concentration of
credit risk as at 31 March 2021 on trade
receivables and contract assets from the
Group's top five customers amounted
to approximately HK$217,045,000 (2020:
HKS$199,546,000), respectively and
accounted for 86.9% (2020: 93.6%) of trade
receivables and contract assets of the
Group, respectively. These customers have
no significant financial difficulty and/or
historical default experience.
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BT RN

3

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

(if)

Impairment of financial assets and contract
assets

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the simplified approach
to provide for expected credit losses
prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected credit
loss provision for all trade receivables and
contract assets. To measure the expected
credit losses, trade receivables and contract
assets have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days
past due. The contract assets relate to
uncertified work in progress and retention
receivables, which have substantially
the same risk characteristics as the trade
receivables for the same types of contracts.
The Group has therefore concluded that the
expected loss rates for trade receivables are
a reasonable approximation of the loss rates
for the contract assets.

The Group has performed historical analysis
based on the background, credit quality
and reputation of the customers, historical
settlement records, past experience and
adjusted for the factors that are specific
to the customers and general economic
condition.

Management assessed that the expected
credit loss rate and loss allowances for these
balances to be insignificant as at 31 March
2021 (2020: same).
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BT RN

3

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets and contract
assets (continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost

The credit quality of the deposit and
other receivables has been assessed with
reference to historical information about
the counterparties default rates and
financial position of the counterparties. The
directors are of the opinion that the credit
risk of the deposits and other receivables
is low due to the sound financial position
or collection history of the receivables due
from them. Therefore, expected credit loss
rate of the deposits and other receivables is
assessed to be insignificant as at 31 March
2021 (2020: same).

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies

maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents.

The Group's liquidity risk is further mitigated

through the availability of financing through
its own cash resources to meet its financial
commitments. In the opinion of the directors, the
Group does not have any significant liquidity risk.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

3

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK

3 BXERBREARMER#)

MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BMERBEZR(E)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) nEELmEEE)
The following tables show the remaining TREIAEENSRHBERR
contractual maturities at the end of the reporting LHRBEAHNRBRBSRE
period of the Group's financial liabilities based EAREEHEREENRZTEH
on contractual undiscounted cash flows and Bz FpE M B BIER - ARA
the earliest date the Group can be required to WMEBAWTAEKX - 1218 8 A EIH
pay. Balances due within 12 months equal their MESRESNERIAHK(BIE
carrying balances (including both interest and FEREE) o
principal) as the impact of discounting is not
significant.
On demand
or within  Between 1 Between 2 Carrying
l1year and2years and5 years Total amount
RERD
MER  1FE2F  2FE5F st REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THERT THET THERT THERT
As at 31 March 2021 2021938310
— Trade payables —BIREM
TR 71,162 - - 71,162 71,162
~ Accruals and other —[EFERR
payables Hft A
15 13,130 - - 13,130 13,130
- Bank borrowings —RITIER 10,000 - - 10,000 10,000
- Lease liabilities -HERE 553 91 46 690 676
94,845 91 46 94,982 94,968
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BT RN

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 BXERRREARRER®)
MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HEEBREXE
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) WmEEZEEEE)
On demand
or within Between 1 Between 2 Carrying
Tyear and2years  and5 years Total amount
BERK
RIER (GRS 2EESF st RHEE
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FAEL FHEL FAL FAEL FAL
As at 31 March 2020 202053 A31R
- Trade payables —E PR
MIE 38,052 = = 38,052 38,052
— Accruals and other —-EAEAR
payables Hib Rt
R 3,564 = = 3,564 3,564
- Lease liabilities -HEAE 553 553 137 1,243 1215
42,169 553 137 42,859 42,831
3.2 Capital management 32 EBEXRER

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to

safeguard their ability to continue as a going
concern, so that they can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, and

maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce
the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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BT RN

3

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3
MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Capital management (continued)

3.3

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the following
gearing ratio:

BRRERREARREREER %)

3.2 BAXREE(E)

—WEAEMEE  AEBERUATE
REBHLRETEN

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FET FET
Bank borrowings IRITIEN 10,000 =
Lease liabilities HeEasE 676 1,215
Less: cash and cash equivalents W HERESEED (196,797) (33,310)
Net cash EIRS (186,121) (32,095)
Total equity gL 359,010 192,668
Net debt to equity ratio FEREERLE N/A F3E A N/A 713

Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group’s current financial
assets, including trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents and restricted
cash, and current financial liabilities, including trade
payables, accruals and other payables, bank borrowings
and lease liabilities approximate their fair values as at
the reporting date due to their short maturities or the
interest rates are close to the market interest rates. The
nominal value less estimated credit adjustments for
financial assets and liabilities with maturities of less than
one year are assumed to approximate their fair values.

383

AFE L

ERARERBDERHEE(BRESE
WHE - e REMEKFR Re
EReEEBYARZRHRE) RRE
TREE(BRESENTIE B E
AREMEMNRIE - RITERLEE
AR REHAR R X ETmIZH X
BE - WEREERLNRSH BN
RFERE  R—FRIHHERE
ERAENZZEERGEREAE
TR BEERNHERS °
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires
the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will
seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs
to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s accounting
policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact
on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

Revenue recognition of construction works and recognition
of contract assets

Revenue from provision of construction works is recognised
over time by measuring the progress towards completion
of the Group's performance obligations as set out in
respective contracts. The Group has used the output method
to estimate the progress of each performance obligation
satisfied over time by reference to the value of construction
works completed to date (as certified by external architects,
surveyors or other representatives as appointed by customers
(collectively the “external independent parties”) or evaluated
by the Group’s internal technicians if such certifications from
external independent parties are not available) as a proportion
of the total contract value of the relevant construction
contracts.

The Group regularly reviews and revises the estimation of
construction contract progresses whenever there is any
change in circumstances. As at 31 March 2021, the value of
work which is completed but yet to be certified was disclosed
in Note 14(b).
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PSRRI R

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The CODM has been identified as the executive directors
who review the Group’s internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources. The CODM has
determined the operating segments based on these reports.

The CODM assesses the performance based on a measure
of profit after income tax and considers all businesses to be
included in a single operating segment.

The Group is principally engaged in the business of providing
formwork services and other construction services in Hong
Kong. Information reported to CODM for the purpose of
resources allocation and performance assessment focuses on
the operating results of the Group as a whole as the Group's
resources are integrated and no discrete operating segment
financial information is available. Accordingly, no operating
segment information is presented.

The Company is domiciled in the Cayman Islands. Information
about the Group’s non-current assets other than financial
instruments by geographical location of the assets are
detailed below:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7 ERE R

ERERARECERANITES  FER
WKEIW%$ﬁMﬂﬁ%ﬁ& FEEEIR ©

ERERREENZERENEELED
%

ERERRERBRAGHEENNE
L}\FH:{E%EE] Iwa%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁkﬂﬁuﬂ—]\ _%\(ﬁé

PN
=70 abk °

AEERE BT BRFREERRS L EA
BERY - ANEERLFERE - AETR
ﬁ%& REZWNERZERAEBHERK

LERE WIIARAKENERES LY &
BIUKLEDMABFER - A &2 )K=
DEBER} ©

ARRIRFASESHEM - RAKRESERSE
Z (Z R TERSN TSl 5 2 B ERAR
L

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2021 2020
20215 20204F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Hong Kong BB 1,171 2,021
The PRC ) 12 =
1,183 2,021
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 SEER @)
The Group’s revenue are all derived from external customers FR - AEBRKRZEZIENEBNINEBE
in Hong Kong for the year. During the years ended 31 March F o R2021F3A31HIEFEE » HRIKRE3E
2021, revenue from 3 (2020: 2) customers, respectively, (20204 : 24) & = Byl 2= {8 BIMG 2 & B UL
individually contributed over 10% of the Group's revenue. The #HHB10% - REFRZEE LR
revenue from each of these customers are summarised below: /(NS

Year ended 31 March
HE3IAALLEE

2021 2020

20214 2020%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TH T FET

Customer A ZEA 405,780 410,458

Customer B =ZFEB 120,823 134,668

Customer C EFC 96,973 N/A® A58 FR @

Note: MizE -
(@) The corresponding customers did not contribute over 10% of @) HETENETEETEEREFRKZSZ
the total revenue of the Group for the specific year. EEABHE10% ©
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6 REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 6 WmRAEMBA
Revenue and other income recognised are as follows: B R R EMRART

Year ended 31 March
HE3A31ALEE

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Contract revenue: S8z
Formwork services TRAR IR 75 807,798 683,151
Other construction services H 2R 15 18,400 2,702
826,198 685,853
Other income: EUA -
Government grant (Note) TR R B (P 5T ) 15,240 -
Sundry income HMETEU A 473 50
15,713 50
All contract revenue is recognised over time. FiB & A B R TR o
Note: B 5E -
Government grant represent the subsidies received from the R 4 B BB A R BT B BT HE 2 AR B2 AT
Employment Support Scheme launched by the government of the SIE TR T 228 -

Hong Kong Special Administration Region.
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7 EXPENSES BY NATURE 7 BEMEIIHNREX
Expenses included in cost of revenue and selling and BIREWEK T AREE RITRAZNHEZ S
administrative expenses are analysed as follows: M

Year ended 31 March
HE3IAALEE

2021 2020

20214 2020%F

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#&xT FET

Subcontracting charges SBEEMA 488,589 304,810

Material costs MR AR 129,546 150,980
Employee benefits expenses, including EE®@FHY @ B2

directors’ emoluments (Note b) FE2ME (M5Ep) 147,184 159,194

Depreciation (Note 12) TE (FisE12) 852 930

Consultancy fee (Note a) BB (M) 3,000 =

Legal and professional fees FEREEEBR 3,963 1,109

Auditors’ remuneration IZ S B &

— Audit services —EE IR 1,480 97

— Non-audit services — B ARTE 200 =

Short-term lease expense RHEERY = 342

Write-off of leasehold improvement W EMEEE - 101

Others Hih 8,472 4,707
Total cost of revenue and selling and ~ YRESAXARIA M S5 K2

administrative expenses TR &% 783,286 622,270
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BT RN

Note:

(a

(b)

EXPENSES BY NATURE (continued)

Consultancy fee is paid to an independent third party for the
feasibility study of prefabricated formwork services in the PRC.

Employee benefits expenses, including directors’ emoluments

BUHBEE WX #)

PaE

(a)

[

FABMY AN ENREEERE 2 AT
TR FTBILE=TT

BERMAY  BREEH:

Year ended 31 March
HEIAALEE

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET F&TT
Wages, salaries, bonuses and IE #& - ft4k
other benefits HibEF 141,530 152,873
Pension costs — defined contribution RIRE KR — E 58
plans HRETE 5,654 6,321
147,184 159,194
Amount included in cost of revenue =+ AUES AKX 2N B 018 141,435 154,723
Amount included in administrative 5t AT G X A9 718
expenses 5,749 4,471
147,184 159,194

No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contributions payable in future years.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose remunerations were the highest in
the Group included 2 directors for the year ended 31 March
2021 (2020: 1), whose remuneration is reflected in the analysis
presented in Note 8(a) below.

BEDRBHER R D RRFE 2 E
FHEEER o

hEHESHMAL

REBZE2021F3A31BILEFE - AEERA
B ALREE2REE (20205 1
%) HEMER T XS 2585
M AR
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7 EXPENSES BY NATURE (continued) 7 EMEBISNAXZE)
Note: (Continued) W& - (8)
(c)  Five highest paid individuals (Continued) © HeZETFMALE)

The remunerations paid to the remaining 3 (2020: 4) individuals
are as follows:

DRI FERT3HE (20204 : 4%) ATHY
FEA T

Year ended 31 March
BZE3ABLEE

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHAT

Wages, salaries, bonuses and IE  #He  t4aAKk
other benefits HiEF 2,072 2,818

Pension costs — defined contribution RIKE KA —F5RE

plans HEETE 54 76
2,126 2,894

The remunerations of the highest paid employees who are not
directors of the Company fell within the following bands:

ARRBEEFIIRSFHNEEBATE
:

Number of employees
Year ended 31 March
EEHEBZE3A31BLFE

2021 2020
20214 20204F

HK$500,001 to HK$ 1,000,000 500,00187T 2
1,000,000 7T 3 4

No incentive payment for joining the Group or compensation
for loss of office was paid or payable to any of the five highest
paid individuals during the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020:
same).
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BT RN

8 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 8 EEWNEANRREDR

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM
The remuneration of the directors of the Company paid REBEENMENANARESAHME
and payable by the Group are set out below: NN
For the year ended 31 March 2021: HE2021F3A31BIEFE -

Employer's
Allowances contribution
Discretionary  and benefits  to pension

Name Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme Total
kS
BER SHEfERK

e {1k Fe  BERL  BUEN  EIHR 2%

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER

Executive directors: WTES:

Mr. Lo Hon Kwong BEXTE = 957 - - 18 975
Ms. Chan May Kiu (Note i) BB L () = 762 - - 18 780
Non-executive director: FHiTES

Mr. Yang Tao (Note i) Zhpe () 95 - - - - 95

Independent Non-executive BUFRNTES

directors:
Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tong 2REELASE

(Note i) (B i) 95 5 - - - 95
Ms. Chan Sze Man (Note iii B 5 B £ (B i) 95 - - - - 95
Mr. Jiang Jungan (Note ii) RS 7 (W) 95 - - - - 95

380 1,719 = = 36 2,135
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8 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 8 EENEFRER »)
(continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EEML(E)
For the year ended 31 March 2020: BHE202063A31RIEFE -
Employer's
Allowances  contribution
Discretionary  and benefits  to pension
Name Fees Salary bonuses in kind scheme Total
mRkE
RER TEIELA
#e e e BETL  EWEN  EIER ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TEx TER TAT FAET TET
Executive directors: HEZ:
Mr. Lo Hon Kwong EEREE = 600 100 = 18 718
Ms. Chan May Kiu (Note i) BBt (M) - 420 70 = 18 508
Non-executive director: FRTES
Mr. Yang Tao (Note ii) 1B e (W) = = = = = =
- 1,020 170 - 36 1,206
Notes: P A
(i) Ms. Chan May Kiu was appointed as an executive (i) PREBRZTMN2019F8 AoRE LT

director on 9 August 2019

(i) Mr. Yang Tao was appointed as an non-executive
director on 9 August 2019

(i)~ Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tong, Ms. Chan Sze Man and
Mr. Jiang Jungan were appointed as Independent
non-executive directors on 17 July 2020

None of the directors has waived any of their

emoluments in respect of the years 31 March 2021 and
2020.
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8 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(continued)
(b) Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
retirement benefits during the year (2020: nil).

(c) Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the year (2020: nil).

(d) Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year, the Group did not pay consideration to
any third parties for making available directors’ services
(2020: nil).

(e) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled body
corporates by and connected entities with such
directors

Quasi-loans or credit transactions:

8

Outstanding
amount at the

EENENRERS2)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

ESZRKER

A B E WEREL S BT R
RIEF (20204 « ) o

ESRIEBAEN

A B E WAL S BT R
IHEE AR (20204F : £E) o

BRERHESREAF=SREHNK
&

FAR - AKETEMLERHE SRS
m EE R % =77 AR B (20204 ¢
&) -

FEUESE ESZHNZERES
FHENERAZEANER - B
BERREMRZHER

BUERHEERS :

Maximum

Outstanding outstanding

beginning of amount at the during the
Name of director theyear  end of the year year
RE 1] RER FN
RSP i A5 R Y i A5 R Y
EEME TR T Ra®
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FHET
Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z20205F3H31H
LEFE
Mr. Lo Hon Kwong EENR LA 3,196 = 43,461

The balance was unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand.

RAERREERN - 2B RARERE

som
o

(Al
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8 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 8 EBEEMWEANRER &)

(continued)

(f)  Directors’ material interests in transactions, ( EENRS  ZHEIEGHNERER
arrangements or contracts

Saved as disclosed in Note 22, no significant B FE22 T EE AN REE R ERT
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to VARREZREFHEEEAER (T
the Group's business to which the Group was a party EESEE) R202143A31H
and in which a director of the Company had a material TMEFEREREREEEBANEAR
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31 5~ BHERA#(2020%F : #8[E]) °

March 2021 (2020: same).
9 FINANCE INCOME/(COSTS), NET 9 @EWA (KA EEE

Year ended 31 March
BZE3A31HILEE

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Finance income BME WA

Bank interest income ERITH B WA 431 15

Finance costs on: THEBEWRERZ
— lease liabilities —fHEaRE (13) (18)
— bank overdrafts —R1TEX - 1)
(13) (39)
Finance income/(costs), net BEWA (A FEE 418 (24)
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10

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Pursuant to the enactment of two-tiered profit tax rates by
the Inland Revenue Department of Hong Kong (“IRD”"), the
Group's first HK$2 million of assessable profits under Hong
Kong profits tax is subject to tax rate of 8.25%. The Group's
remaining assessable profits above HK$2 million will continue
to be subject to a tax rate of 16.5%.

The provision for Corporate Income Tax in the PRC is
calculated at 25%.

No overseas profits tax has been calculated for entities of the
Group that are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI")
or the Cayman Island as they are exempted from tax in these
jurisdictions.

The amount of income tax expense charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income represents:

10 FREBIMAX

BRIEEERBER([FEH]) 5875 ™M RS F|
BRE - KEEE 2,000,000 7T FE R 5% F
825U K BMB BTGB - AEE
T B 12,000,000 7T B FE 2R 1 i 1) BI 4 4B 1
16.5%H) T R AR FR o

GRS TRy SR

HRARERNEBRLAHS ([ HE R LA
SHFAEHSEMA LA ERER AR
ZERVEERMTIE - I B U F B R
BEMBINIEH -

REHE2HRERIHENMENHFAXEHE

=
g -

Year ended 31 March
BZE3A3MBLEE

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THET FHET
Current income tax BUEAFT 15 H4
- Hong Kong profits tax —BEEH 7,181 10,730
— PRC Corporate Income Tax — B EFREH 20 -
Income tax expense Frig®if = 7,201 10,730
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10

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10 FREBiR @)
The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from NEBKRERIDENNRIBEEBRZEER
the theoretical amount that would arise using the enacted tax BN BEHRERTENIERTENEREN
rate of the group entities as follows: T
Year ended 31 March
BZE3A31BLEE
2021 2020
202145 2020%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Profit before income tax k& BT 15 55 Al i ) 49,939 50,331
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates BEAEBRKBAREA
applicable to different subsidiaries S R E T I8
of the Group 8,201 8,304
Tax effect under two-tiered profits tax ~ FFAR I FI1S 5 = &I E T &Y
rates regime B (165) (165)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1~ a] 1554 f 5% 1,736 2,613
Income not subject to tax AR (2,561) 2
Tax concession HisER (10) (20)
Income tax expense PSR XX 7,201 10,730
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11

EARNINGS PER SHARE 11

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue as follows:

FRERN
SRERRM TR AR ARG HFIR
AEBTEBBEMETOEE - 0T :

Year ended 31 March
BZE3A3MBLEE

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
Profit attributable to owners of RRE A AEIEET
the Company (in HK$'000) (F%&7L) 42,773 39,601
Weighted average number of BEITEBRINETIIH
ordinary shares in issue (in Thousand)  (FA%) 907,534 731,065
Earnings per share (HKS cents per share) &M ZF| (FAEL) 4.71 5.42

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of earnings per share for the year ended 31 March
2020 has been retrospectively adjusted for the effects of the
issuance of shares in connection with the Reorganisation and
the capitalisation issue which took place on 14 August 2020.

There were no differences between the basic and diluted
earnings per share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary
shares outstanding during the year (2020: same).

BETEHE200F3A3BLEFEEREA
A BB INEFEHHEREEERMBEN
R EEF TR R B M 2020F8 A 14 E
ALBITIEIR PTEE o

F 7R F L 4 1 R 31T )T A B AR
B R AN S 5 E & R 3 4 = ) (20204 ¢
R
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12 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 12 MERZE
Motor
vehicles
Furniture, under hire
Right-of-use Leasehold  fixture and purchase
of property improvement  equipment arrangement Total
x4 Gzt
W% HE BEEREER LHET
ERE  MEEE R AE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET FHET FET FET
As at 1 April 2019 201953 H31H
Cost (DN 2,934 507 122 557 4,120
Accumulated depreciation ZEtITE (1,882) (373) (75) (97) (2,427)
Net book amount REFE 1,052 134 47 460 1,693
Year ended 31 March 2020 BZ202043A31H
LEFE
Opening net book amount HAYIER S E 1,052 134 47 460 1,693
Remeasurement of right-of-use BT EFAEEE
assets (Note) (ftzE) (910) = = = (910)
Additions NE 1,349 920 - - 2,269
Depreciation e (566) (173) (24) (167) (930)
Written-off 35 - (101) = - (101)
Closing net book amount HIRAREFE 925 780 23 293 2,021
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12 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

12 MERKEE)

Motor
vehicles
Furniture,  under hire
Right-of-use ~ Leasehold fixture and purchase
of property improvement equipment arrangement Total
B g
LES HE BETE#HER ZHET
ERE MERE R RE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TER TET TER TER
As at 31 March 2020 ;2020538310
Cost AR 1,349 923 122 557 2,951
Accumulated depreciation ZEIE (424) (143) (99) (264) (930)
Net book amount REFE 925 780 23 293 2,021
Year ended 31 March 2021 2202138310
LR
Opening net book amount HERE A 925 780 23 293 2,021
Additions NE - - 14 - 14
Depreciation e (463) (212) (10) (167) (852)
Closing net book amount HREREEE 462 568 27 126 1,183
As at 31 March 2021 202153 A31H
Cost BN 1,349 923 136 557 2,965
Accumulated depreciation ZEME (887) (355) (109) (431) (1,782)
Net book amount RE %A 462 568 27 126 1,183
Note: The amount represents the remeasurement of carrying Mzt - ZemEEFTIEREENRRKREHEE

amount to reflect a remeasurement of lease liabilities arising

from lease modification or early termination.

Depreciation expense of approximately HK$852,000 for the
year (2020: HK$930,000) has been recorded in administrative

expenses.

FR -
930,000/87T) ' BERESAITTHHY -

ERHREFRENAERENENAE -

T EE B X 49.45852,00078 7T (20204
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13 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 13 RERIZSsWESmIT A

The Group's financial instruments include the following:

AEENSRTIEBEATRIEA

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
HKS$’000 HK$'000
FHBxT FET
Financial assets cREE

Financial assets at amortised cost A B2 AR E
Trade receivables B 5 IR 37,634 28,416
Deposits and other receivables e Rk H AR 2,438 136
Restricted cash ZRHIRE 17,500 =
Cash and cash equivalents RE KB EEY 196,797 33,310
254,369 61,862

As at 31 March
MA3A318
2021 2020
202145 20204F
HKS$’000 HK$'000
TET FETT
Financial liabilities A= R

Financial liabilities at amortised cost IR ER TR E
Trade payables B S EN IR 71,162 38,052
Accruals and other payables FEETE A K Bt & A~ FRIE 13,130 3,564
Bank borrowings RITE 10,000 -
Lease liabilities HEAEFE 676 1,215
94,968 42,831
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14(a) TRADE RECEIVABLES 14(a) B 3 FEWFKIE
As at 31 March
MA3A31H

2021 2020
202145 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
THxT FHEIT
Trade receivables B 5 EWEIE 37,634 28,416

The Group’s credit terms granted to third-party customers
range from 14 days to 60 days.

At the end of reporting period, the ageing analysis of
the third-party trade receivables, based on the date of
certification, are as follows:

AEERTE=ZNEPHNEEMN 148 E
60H -

RBERR - BB EMRERERE
REBMEER ST :

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2021 2020
202145 2020%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Up to 30 days =%30H 30,818 27,795
31-90 days 31HZE9H 6,816 -
Over 365 days iBiE365H - 621
37,634 28,416

Due to the short-term nature of the trade receivables, their
carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair
value.

A B 2 S (A - EBRTE R
B REEATERR -
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14(b) CONTRACT ASSETS 14b)EHNEE
As at 31 March
M3A318
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
TER FETT
Contract assets relating to HERABEEEENENEE
- Uncertified work in progress — KRB EETLRE 128,658 79,469
— Retention receivables —EWREB & 83,391 105,336
212,049 184,805

Contract assets represent the Group’s rights to considerations
from customers for the provision of formwork services and
other construction services, which arise when: (i) the Group
completed the relevant services under such contracts but
the works are yet to be certified by architects, surveyors or
other representatives appointed by the customers; or (ii) the
customers withhold certain certified amounts payable to the
Group as retention money to secure the due performance
of the contracts. The terms and conditions in relation to the
release of retention vary from contract to contract, which
is subject to practical completion, the expiry of the defects
liability period or a pre-agreed time period. The Group does
not hold any collateral as security. Any amount previously
recognised as a contract asset is reclassified to trade
receivables at the point at which it is certified by architects,
surveyors or other representatives appointed by the
customers and becomes unconditional other than passage of
time. The change in contract assets is related to the work in
progress performed by the Group but is yet to be certified and
the release status of retention monies throughout the year.
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BT RN

14(b) CONTRACT ASSETS (continued) Hh)ENEE®)
In the consolidated statement of financial position, contract RAEMI R RETR - EHEWRZSEEN
assets relating to retention receivables were classified as AHNBEENGLBAEMYE AR EE -
current assets based on operating cycle. The ageing of the FEWIR B SRR BRI IO T -
retention receivables, based on the date of certification, are as
follows:

As at 31 March

R3A31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH T FHT
Within 1 year 19N 29,610 36,627
Between 1 and 2 years YL 33,930 11,911
Over 2 years TR 19,851 56,798
83,391 105,336
As at 31 March 2021, management expects that approximately R221F3A31H - EBEHEHDN A
HK$14,279,000 (2020: HK$31,930,000), will be received within 14,279,000 7T (20204F : 31,930,000 7T ) #
one year. R—FERNUYH -
The following table shows unsatisfied performance TRETBTCERRPERSNELENERE
obligations resulting from fixed-price long-term construction TRAOEE -
contracts.

As at 31 March

M3A318
2021 2020
202145 2020%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#ExT FET
Aggregate amount of the transaction DB EREEITH R H
price allocated to long-term BESHNRZEBEE
construction contracts that are
unsatisfied 1,381,647 1,064,877
As at 31 March 2021, management expects that approximately MR2021FE3831H r EEBEEREHLY A
HK$891,092,000 (2020: HK$783,774,000), will be recognised as 891,092,000 7T, (20204 : 783,774,000 JT )
revenue during the next reporting period and the remaining BT —ERE HEERAWE - MBsEE
will be recognised within two years from each reporting date. NE e HEIFE TR ERNRER ©
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15 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES

15 FAMNRE  RERAMGERKIE

As at 31 March

M3A31H

2021 2020

20215 20204F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FAT

Prepayments for listing expenses FTRAXHENHKIE - 3,650

Prepayments TEfT IR 116 -

Deposits and other receivables e R H A IR 2,438 136
Prepayments, deposits and other TARNRIE ~ e REAM

receivables JEU FR T8 2,554 3,786

Less: non-current portion B e BN
Deposits b (77) (77)
2,477 3,709

The carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables 1R & N B e MO IE B AR T (B B2 B N T B AR
approximate their fair values. o

16(a) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 16 BERESEEY
As at 31 March
R3A31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Cash and cash equivalents HehkIReEED 196,797 33,310

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents
approximate their fair values and are denominated in the

AekRAeFBEYNERAEZELQFER
& WAATE®IIE -

following currencies:

As at 31 March

M3H31H
2021 2020
20215 20205
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TEx FET
HKS BIT 156,792 33,310
RMB NG 40,005 =
196,797 33,310
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BT RN

16(b)RESTRICTED CASH

17

As at 31 March 2021, restricted cash of approximately
HKS$17,500,000 were held by two banks in Hong Kong to
secure the bank facilities granted to the Group (Note 25).

TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables at the end of each reporting period comprise
amounts outstanding to contract creditors and suppliers. The

average credit period for trade purchases generally ranged

from 15 days to 60 days.

16(b) 32 PR 3R &
M2021F3 8318 » R HIZRE4917,500,000
BITHMBNEENIRITES » WEHE
FAREBRFRITRE (FHFE25) o

17 ESEMAFKE
EREHANEZENTBRESRINAF
AN

HERANMBEENGE -5 HRENT
BHEEH BN TF15HEG0H -

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAT
Trade payables H 5 RIA 71,162 38,052

At the end of reporting period, the ageing analysis of the trade

payables, based on invoice date, are as follows:

WEREEIR - SR ROE % R A B0
BATIT :

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
F#&x FHIT
Up to 30 days =%30H 67,175 25,961
31-90 days 31H£90H 3,705 7,496
91-180 days 91HZ180H 282 3,347
Over 180 days BiE180H = 1,248
71,162 38,052

The carrying amounts of trade payables approximate their fair

values.

BHRNRENRIERLAFHERS -

Annual Report 2021 %} Chi Kan Holdings Limited %5 #1 {2 iR B R 2 7] 1 73



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

18 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

18 BT ERAKEMENRE

As at 31 March

M3A31H

2021 2020

202145 20204

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FHET FHIT

Accruals for listing expenses ETRAXZAEREA = 3451
Accruals for staff salaries and BT H¢ REAETID

other benefits EEtE A 14,676 12,963

Other accruals and other payables HEmEABRAREM

JE kIR 15,695 330

Accruals and other payables st E A M H b e IE 30,371 16,744

Less: Non-current portion R FERENER Y = (217)

Current portion MENER D 30,371 16,527

The carrying amounts of accruals and other payables
approximate their fair values.

19 LEASES LIABILITIES

FEET B AR E RN FEMREERE QT
BHR% -

19 HESE

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HKS$’000 HK$'000
FET F#ET
Current Mkl 545 540
Non-current IERE 131 675
676 1,215

The Group leases various properties for the use of office and
motor vehicles. The Group has the option to purchase the
motor vehicles under hire purchase arrangement. These lease
liabilities were measured at net present value of the lease
payments during the lease terms that are not yet paid.
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20 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 20 RARKAIEE
Number of
ordinary shares Share capital
ZERHE [ &S
HK$'000
FAT
Authorised: SERE
As at 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020  R2019F4 418 &
20203 A31H 38,000,000 380
Increase during the year (Note (i) FE R HTEEG)) 9,962,000,000 99,620
As at 31 March 2021 FR2021F3A31H 10,000,000,000 100,000
Number of
ordinary shares Share capital Share premium
ZEREE IR 7 % 10 5 8
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAR :
As at 1 April 2019 R2019F4H1H 720 = =
Issuance of ordinary sharesin  FLEEARZEITE B
relation to the Reorganisation (i)
(Note (ii)) 8,730 —* -
Issuance of ordinary shares REEXARBER
pursuant to the Pre-IPO T E B
Agreement (Note (ii)) (P &£ (i) 550 —* 11,000
As at 31 March 2020 720203 H31H 10,000 —* 11,000
As at 1 April 2020 2020848110 10,000 _* 11,000
Capitalisation Issue (Note (i) &AL 21T (B REGi)) 749,990,000 7,500 (7,500)
Issuance of ordinary shares upon 18317 @A
listing (Note (iv)) (B3EGv)) 250,000,000 2,500 127,500
Listing expenses charged AR & EHY
to share premium A - - (10,579)
As at 31 March 2021 PR2021F3A31H 1,000,000,000 10,000 120,421
* Less than HK$1,000 * AP1,0007 7T
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20 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

(continued)

Notes:

U]

(i)

(iii)

Pursuant to a shareholders’ resolution passed on 17 July 2020,
the authorised share capital of the Company was increased
from HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 shares of HKS$0.01
each to HK$100,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 shares of
HKS$0.01 each by the creation of a further 9,962,000,000 shares
ranking pari passu with the existing shares in all respects.

On 17 June 2019 and 13 September 2019, additional 280
and 8,450 shares were issued and allotted as fully paid to
the then equity holders of the Company at par as part of the
Reorganisation. On 16 September 2019, pursuant to the Pre-
IPO Agreement, additional 550 shares were issued and allotted
as fully paid to CT Vision.

Pursuant to a shareholders’ resolution passed on 17 July
2020, subject to the share premium account of the Company
being credited as a result of the share offer, the directors are
authorized to allot and issue a total of 749,990,000 shares by
way of capitalisation of the sum of HK$7,499,900 standing to
the credit of the share premium account of the Company (the
"Capitalisation Issue”). The Capitalisation Issue was completed
on 14 August 2020.

On 14 August 2020, the Company issued a total of 250,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at a price of HK$0.52 per share
as a result of the completion of the share offer. Of the total
gross proceeds amounting to HK$130,000,000, HK$2,500,000
represented the par value credit to the Company’s share capital
and HK$127,500,000, before the share issuance expenses, was
credited to the share premium account. The Company's total
number of issued shares was increased to 1,000,000,000 shares
upon completion of the share offer and Capitalisation Issue as
detailed in note (iii) above.
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BT RN

21

22

DIVIDENDS

Neither dividend was paid, declared or proposed during the
year, nor has any dividend has been proposed since the end of
reporting period.

Pursuant to a director's resolution dated 12 September 2019, a
dividend of approximately HK$43,161,000 was declared by the
Company to the then sole equity holder of the Company. The
dividend was fully settled through current account with the
then equity holder of the Company.

RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURE

For the purposes of the consolidated financial statements,
a party is considered to be related to the Group if the party
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant
influence over the Group in making financial and operating
decisions. Related parties may be individuals (being members
of key management personnel, significant shareholders and/
or their close family members) or other entities and include
entities which are under the significant influence of related
parties of the Group where those parties are individuals.
Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to
common control.

The directors are of the view that the following parties were
related parties that had transactions or balances with the
Group during the year:

Name
Mr. Lo

Relationship with the Group
Executive Director

Ms. Chan May Kiu (“Mrs. Lo")  Executive Director

CK Engineering Controlled by Mr. Lo and

Mrs. Lo

21

22

8=\

FRALBRN - EIREFRE -
RAETE IR EAARE -

B ¥®RE B

RIFEAEA2019F0ANHNESRRER
RARAAARE R —ESFEATIRY
43,161,000/ TR B - BERE D B BEAR
ARERESEEANTEREOBRLEN -

AT &

LEHMBHERME © M T ERER LR
BHAEEMENMERRERRTEEX
TEN  ZHARGARENSEERY - B
BT REREANEIEEREKE T £
BRR K/ SHRSHAR) R EMER - B
AEEBEANEBR T HEBERTZE NN
B - REHFAEFNET TR SERE

4t
gp ©

EER5 TIALRARAFEEAEEE
BRZ AR -

=L BEAKMNEAER
EZEREE WITES
REB/R L HITES
(TEAXD
2EHTE HELER
BEA K
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22 RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURE (continued)

(@) Transactions with related parties

(i

22

L INE )
(@) EEBHHRS

Year ended 31 March

BE3AHLEE
2021 2020
20214 20204F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
CK Engineering BETIE
— Lease payments —HERRK - 70

(i) During year ended 31 March 2020, the Group
entered into a banking facility letter, which is
secured by certain bank deposits of Mr. Lo, with a
general banking facility amount of HK$60,000,000.
Such banking facility was released during the
year.

(b) Key management compensation

Key management includes the directors and the senior
management of the Group.

The remuneration of directors and compensations paid
or payable to key management for employment services
are shown below:

(i) MREZE2020F3A31BLEFE -
7K £ B 5t A £060,000,0007%8 7T &Y
—MIBITRHE(RELEE TR
TR IR ET L IR1TRLE (K
- ZERTAUECNAFEE
BN o

(b) FEEEEHRMN

TEERERRASENEEULR
EEEASE -

ERRGENIENEREEEN
SEEME RmMaT

Year ended 31 March

BZ3A31ALLEE
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&T T
Fees &M 380 -
Short-term benefits EHATEH 2,613 2,176

Retirement benefit costs — RIREFFAS-

defined contribution plans TE R AT B 68 69
3,061 2,245
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23 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 23 KA B MBEARR K

THE COMPANY
As at 31 March
M3H31H
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
P5E TExT FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B AR ZIRE 155,638 155,638
Current assets REEE
Prepayments TERT IR = 3,650
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUT M B A B3 IE 111,137 60,641
Cash and cash equivalents HERBEEEED 12,989 1,452
124,126 65,743
Total assets EEHAE 279,764 221,381
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners of A THEE A
the Company GRS
Share capital A% A 20 10,000 =
Share premium &R & B 20 120,421 11,000
Reserves & (a) 146,996 156,100
Total equity ERBEE 277,417 167,100
LIABILITIES =E
Current liabilities REEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETH B A B I8 364 50,819
Accruals and other payables JETFRIE M EAth
JE < RRIB 1,983 3,462
Total liabilities BEAHE 2,347 54,281
Total equity and liabilities EzkaERAE 279,764 221,381

& 202093 4318 « RALA100/ETT °

RARMBEMRARE R 2021F6 A25HESE
EERETIZ  WHATEERREE -

* As at 31 March 2020, the share capital is approximately HK$100.

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 June 2021
and was signed on behalf.

Lo Hon Kwong Chan May Kiu
Director Director
Ed -
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23 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 23 ARFHBRRTR )

THE COMPANY (continued)

(a) Reserve movement (a) fRE=2H
Retained
earnings/
Capital (accumulated
reserve losses) Total
RERF
=N (REER) HE
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FHET
(Note)
(BREE)
As at 1 April 2019 R2019F4H1H - (658) (658)
Issuance of ordinary PEITHBEHABEN
shares in relation to Tmp&
the Reorganisation 155,248 - 155,248
Profit and total FWaNEEEka
comprehensive 4BEE
income for the year - 44,671 44,671
Dividend Az B = (43,161) (43,161)
As at 31 March 2020 M20205F3 A31H 155,248 852 156,100
As at 1 April 2020 202054818 155,248 852 156,100
Loss and total FANBEERZEERE
comprehensive 1aza
loss for the year - (9,104) (9,104)
As at 31 March 2021 202163H31H 155,248 (8,252) 146,996

Note: Capital reserve represented the difference between the

it - BEAREEMEENE R RNEE
FEERBEABITARBRM D
FRENORERENZHE -

net assets value of the subsidiaries acquired and the
consideration settled by issuance of the shares of the
Company pursuant to the Reorganisation.
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24 SUBSIDIARIES 24 MEBATF

TRE2511202143A31 BNEEHBAR :

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at 31

March 2021:
Country of
incorporation/ Registered/
Establishment and Principal activities/ Issued and Attributable equity
Name kind of legal entity Place of operation paid-up capital interest of the Group
Bt/
EMEINER, TEEEH/ BETR
8 BIRGFERER EEHE EHRERAE rEEEERE
31 March
3A31H
2021 2020
2021% 2020
Directly held
EERE
Chi Kan Engineering BVI, limited liability Investment holding, US$50,000 100% 100%
Technology Company company BVI
Limited
Chi Kan Engineering RBEZHES - REER 50,0003 7T 100% 100%
Technology Company BRAT EBRLES
Limited
Indirectly held
BERs
Chi Kan Group (BVI) Limited BVI, limited liability Investment holding, US$1,000 100% 100%
company BVI
ChiKan Group (BVI) Limited ~ HEBREZEE - REER - 1,000 7T 100% 100%
AR AT EBRUHS
Chi Kan Technology BVI, limited liability Investment holding, US$50,000 100% 100%
Development Limited company BVI
Chi Kan Technology RBETHES WEER 50,0003 7T 100% 100%
Development Limited BRAT RBEAHE
Chi Kan Strategy Limited Hong Kong, Investment holding, HKS1 100% 100%
limited liability HK
company
BHREAR LA &% BARRAA REER - BR 1B 100% 100%
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24 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 24 WIBATR(&)
Country of
incorporation/ Registered/
Establishment and Principal activities/ Issued and Attributable equity
Name kind of legal entity Place of operation paid-up capital interest of the Group
Bt/
MR INER, TEEEH/ BETR
% BUREHFERER EEBE BRRRE AEEEERE
31 March
3A31H
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
Chi Kan Woodworks Company  Hong Kong, limited Formwork services and HK$300,000 100% 100%
Limited liability company other construction
services, HK
BEHEAR &E  BRAA BAR MR R H A2 5E 300,000 7T 100% 100%
% BB
ChiKan Engineering (Yangzhou) The PRC, limited liability ~ Investment holding, US$30,000,000 100% 100%
Investment Company Limited ~ company the PRC
("CK Yangzhou")*
BHTRREBGMN)ERLARA FE AREERF REZER +E 30,000,000% 7T 100% 100%
(IEgHM 1)~
Nanjing Zhixin Construction  The PRC, limited liability  Investment holding, RMB5,000,000 100% 100%
Technology Company company the PRC
Limited (“CK Nanjing")*
HREGREMBARLR  PHE- REER - #E AR¥ 100% 100%
(MEREED BREERA 5,000,0007C
Baiyin Chi Kan Technology The PRC, limited liability ~ Trading business, RMBS5,000,000 51% -
Development Company company the PRC
Limited (“CK Baiyin")®
BREYPRRER FE BHEY  PE AR 51% =
BRAR(AHREE])e BREMERA 5,000,0007T
3 Registered as wholly-owned enterprise of Taiwan, Hong Kong * BEPBEERAMARE BARRMA
and Macau corporate under the PRC law AMEEHEA AT
g Registered as wholly-owned enterprise under the PRC law # BEPEEEAMAZEBE AR
e Registered as other limited liability enterprise under the PRC e BERBEETMAREMERET QA
law
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24 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 24 BB @)
Material non-controlling interest BEREERER
Set out below is summaries financial information for the TREHEAREE M EE AN IR =AM
subsidiary that has non—controlling interest that are material BRARAMMBENSRE - tBARMEENS
to the Group. The amount disclosed for the subsidiary are BAMA R RIMR S ATEL -
before inter-company eliminations:
CK Baiyin
HERE &
As at
31 March 2021
R2021%3A31H
HK$’000
FET
Current assets MENEE 17,531
Current liabilities mENBE (11,338)
Net current assets RBEEFE 6,193
Accumulated NCI it EERER 3,034
Summaries statement of comprehensive income 2 ENFMERR
Revenue and other income Wz K E A I 473
Profit for the period B4 ) 243
Other comprehensive income Hitn 2 EHA 17
Total comprehensive income ZHER B 260
Profit allocated to NC| DELEIFE R E R A 5 A 127
Summaries cash flows REeRafE
Cash flows from operating activities KEEHBESRE 6,484
Cash flows from investing activities KREFHFAFHRESRE —*
Cash flows from financing activities BB EFMSRESRE 5,932
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ReRBeEEYEMFE 12,416

* Less than HK$1,000

* D 1,00078 7T
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24 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 24 B E (@)
Transaction with non-controlling interest BEEERERNRS
On 11 November 2020, the Group has incorporated a 202011 A1 - AEBRFREFEMAZ
subsidiary in the PRC with 51% interest. On 25 March 2021, the — AR RS 1%HME AR » B20214F3AH
Group has entered into a share transfer agreement to transfer 258 - REEFT RO EGZE - USRS
the entire interest held by the Group to the non-controlling BEEN IS ETNEE FEEERIFE
shareholder at net asset value. The Group recognised BRARER - AEBRIEIZERERERIE ML
an increase in non-controlling interest of approximately 159,000/ 7T °
HK$159,000.
25 BANK BORROWINGS 25 RITER
As at 31 March
M3A31H
2021 2020
202145 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Bank borrowings — secured IRITIE R -E I 10,000 =
The Group's bank borrowings were repayable as follows: NEBMPBRITETIZ NRERN -

As at 31 March

M3A31R
2021 2020
20216 2020%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TR TR
Within 1 year 1F R 10,000 -
The carrying amount of bank borrowings approximate their RITEHMEmEREGEE Y ATEMAE - W
fair value and is denominated in HKS. The weighted effective PGB TTEHE o SRITIE BT E TR =
interest rates of bank borrowings was 2.23% per annum. £223% o 202138318  $BITREG) A
As at 31 March 2021, the bank borrowings were secured WITHIEMZ R GRS M (ME160b)) :
by (i) restricted cash held by the bank (Note 16(b)); and (ii) T () BAZS A Bl 1 SR o

corporate guarantee of the Company.
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26 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) Cash generated from operations

26 BEREER

(a) REMBHEZ

Year ended 31 March
HE3A31ALEE

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Profit before income tax R PIT 15 %54 BT 4 £ 49,939 50,331
Adjustments for: AT BIEAR -
Finance income BB WA (431) (15)
Finance costs BhE AR 13 39
Depreciation of property MENREITE
and equipment 852 930
Write-off of leasehold M EMFEEE
improvement - 101
50,373 51,386
Changes in working capital: EEE o
Trade receivables and BRI IAER
contract assets BHEE (36,462) (22,597)
Prepayments, deposits TERRIE - e REM
and other receivables e SR IE (1,476) (743)
Trade payables Z N RIE 33,110 32,594
Accruals and other payables FEETB R MEAM
JE T FRIA 13,246 7,444
Net cash generated from operations #& % FriSIR €% 58 58,791 68,084

Payments for short-term leases for the year ended
31 March 2020 are approximately HK$342,000.

REE2020F3 831 B IEFEHE A E
KA F342,00058 7T °
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26 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) 26 BEeEREER (&)
(b) Non-cash investing activities (b) FEHEESREETH

Year ended 31 March
HE3A31ALEE

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Additions of property and ZHEFNRBEMER
equipment by means of leases: B
- Right-of-use of property — W) ZEAE = 1,349
Reinstatement cost included FFAEEMEEER
in leasehold improvement EIIpAR = 217
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing () RMETHELEEMYER
activities
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TRFAVASERETHEENEE
arising from financing activities, including both cash g BIERESNIERSEH o &
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing EBEAMABENEERSREIR
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future REEMEFNAEESHEERE
cash flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated TP BARETHMERERES -
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.
For the year ended 31 March 2021 B F2021F3H31HILLFE
Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
RITHER HESE et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
As at 1 April 2020 7202064810 - 1,215 1,215
Financing cash flows MERERE 10,000 (539) 9,461
As at 31 March 2021 7A2021%3H31H 10,000 676 10,676
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27

PSRRI R

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020

26 BERhEaER 2

(0 BMEEIDHELERBNYHIRGE)

BLE2020F3H31HILLFE
Amounts
Amount due to
due from related Lease
adirector  companies liabilities Total
B —% e 1< B g
EENE NAFE  HEAR BEt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ OOO

TET TET TET TET

As at 1 April 2019 720194 A 1H (3,144) 10,301 1417 8,574
Financing cash flows @a‘éiﬂ{i}}mi (40,317) (10,301) (641) (51,259)
Non-cash transactions: FBERH

Distribution to Controlling }ELEXEE,\DH Eked

Shareholder settled through BREEER DR

current account 300 - - 300
Dividend declared and settled FRAERETIR &

through current account R AR S (FiTEE21)

(Note 21) 43,161 - - 43,161
Addition of lease REWE - = 1,349 1,349
Remeasurement of EFEYE

right-of-use for property FRE = = (910) (910)
As at 31 March 2020 2020%F3A31H - - 1215 1215

(d) Major non-cash transactions

On 12 September 2019, a dividend of approximately
HK$43,161,000 was declared by the Company to the
then sole equity holder of the Company and was settled
through current account with the then equity holder of
the Company (also see Note 21).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

A contingent liability will be disclosed when a possible
obligation has arisen, but its existence has to be confirmed
by future events outside the Group's control, or when it is not
possible to calculate the amount. As at 31 March 2021, the
Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities. The
directors believe that any potential compensation arising from
the ongoing litigations will be covered by relevant insurance
coverage and these litigations will not have a material adverse
effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group
(2020: same).

27

d) EEFREXRS

M2019F9A128 » KAARAAR
RAERE—EZFEATREKREY
43,161,000/8 70 * WHEBERREAR D
AERNE—EaFEASNEERE
(BERKIFE21) »

HAREE

HARBERARENERXESER(EETE
,,\L/(;HEZSE.FEHK I%”E}jﬂix%{&fﬁwu
W ERETREFTERFFTE - 12021F3 A31
B AEETETMEARAEE - EEH
1z BFERBROREGESEESZFEFRAR
FIEAMTMBERE  mbSEFLETS
HAEENE P RRERTMERTF
S (20204 : #ER])
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Financial Summary

B 75478 &

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars) (LA TTHIR)

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for

AEESOMEMBREFENEENEENBER

the last four financial years is as follows: EZMT
Year ended 31 March
BE3ANALEE
2018 2019 2020 2021
20184 20194 20204 202145
$'000 $'000 $'000 $’000
FET FET FET TET
RESULTS E
Revenue A 1,013,668 525,153 685,853 826,198
Profit before income tax Y =Tl 73,764 49,390 50,331 49,939
Income tax expense FiSfiFx (12,138) (7,833) (10,730) (7,201)
Profit for the year FRHENREEBA
1R 61,626 41,557 39,601 42,738
Attributable to: A& -
Owners of the Company KRNBER A 61,626 41,557 39,601 42,773
Non-controlling interest AR - - - (35)
61,626 41,557 39,601 42,738
As at 31 March
BZE3A3MBLEE
2018 2019 2020 2021
20184F 20194F 20204F 20214
$'000 $'000 $'000 $’000
FET FET FET TFHExT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Total assets BB E 316,362 221,451 252,338 471,239
Total liabilities BEE (172,391) (35,923) (59,670) (112,229)
Net assets BEFE 143,971 185,528 192,668 359,010

This report is published in both English and Chinese languages. ARIREUFE Y WRIEZES % - FEiiE X2
AEFERER - ARXRE -

Should there be any inconsistency between the Chinese and English
versions, the English version shall prevail.
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